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Director’s Statement

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board” or the “Directors”) of China National Culture Group Limited 
(the “Company”), I present the annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to the 
“Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2016.

CURRENT YEAR REVIEW
During the year, the Group keep on focus on its existing advertising business and commence the e-commerce 
business since August 2015. It is expected that it will generate positive contributions to the Group.

In October 2015, the Group has entered into agreement to acquire Dynamic Thinker Limited in order to 
further expand the e-commerce and internet advistising business in the People’s Republic of China.

PROSPECT
With a series of new developments in the pipeline, we are excited about the opportunities ahead.

In April 2016, the Group have completed the acquisition of Group Wise Holdings Limited (“Group Wise”) as 
it is considered that (1) certain expertise knowledge and the platform of Group Wise can be utilised in the 
Group’s business of advertising media services, the acquisition of Group Wise is in line with the business 
development strategy and expansion plan of Group Wise; (2) Group Wise has well-established business in 
marketing services, the Board considers the acquisition will enable the Group to complement its existing 
movie distribution business, which may have synergetic effect.

The vision of the Group is (1) to expand its existing services offerings to different industry and also the 
geographical coverage; and (2) to look for business opportunities that would generate long-term returns to 
its shareholders.

To achieve this vision, our future plans include:

– Continued development of advertising and e-commerce related businesses;

– Expansion of advertising and e-commerce related business through acquisition and/or co-operation;

– Strategic investments in both regional and overseas movie productions;

– Diversifying the Group’s business portfolio in other business sector including but not limited to money 
lending business

The Group will keep the shareholders abreast of the latest development of the Group.
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Director’s Statement

APPRECIATION
On behalf of the Board, I would like to take this opportunity to express my gratitude to our shareholders, 
business partners, directors and our dedicated staff for their continuing support, commitment and confidence 
in the Group.

Sun Wei
Director

Hong Kong, 23 June 2016
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW
For the year ended 31 March 2016, the Group recorded a turnover of approximately HK$38,135,000 
(2015: HK$20,429,000), representing an increase of 86.67% as compared with last year. The increase 
in turnover in the current year mainly because the Group started to get involve in e-commerce business 
segment since August 2015. Gross profit increased to approximately HK$7,335,000 in the current year 
(2015: HK$6,602,000). The gross profit margin decreased to 19.23% in the current year from 32.3% over 
the year ended 31 March 2015. The decrease in gross profit margin was mainly because the Group focus on 
e-commerce business commenced during the year has a lower gross profit margin.

Profit attributable to the owners of the Company amounted to approximately HK$123,250,000 (2015: loss of 
HK$159,994,000) and earnings per share for the year was earnings of HK1.55 cents (2015: loss of HK4.17 
cents (restated)). Apart from the increase in gross profit, the Group also recorded unrealised gain on financial 
assets held for trading, mainly arise from our investment in China Jicheng Holdings Limited, and impairment 
loss in respect of goodwill amounted to approximately HK$341,006,000 (2015: HK$22,879,000) and 
HK$137,000,000 (2015: HK$146,260,000) respectively. Moreover, finance costs decreased to approximately 
HK$12,324,000 (2015: HK$17,280,000) as the Group has redeemed the promissory notes during the year.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
As at the end of the year, non-current assets increased to approximately HK$344,814,000 (2015: 
HK$264,381,000) due to goodwill and intangible assets arose from the acquisition of Dynamic Thinker 
Limited during the year. Current assets increased due to the increase in financial assets held for trading and 
the increase in cash and cash equivalents. Total liabilities were increased as the Group has consideration 
payable and deferred tax liabilities arose from acquisition of Dynamic Thinker Limited during the year, 
although the Group redeemed the promissory notes and settlement of other loan during the year.

Capital Structure
Open offer
During the year ended 31 March 2016, the Company has completed an open offer (“Open offer”) with actual 
net proceeds amounted to approximately HK$480,276,000 for the purposes of (i) acquisition of potential 
targets principally engaged in the mobile application business in the PRC (approximately HK$180,253,000), (ii) 
potential investment opportunities (approximately HK$180,253,000), (iii) development and operation of the 
Group’s proposed establishment of e-commerce business (approximately HK$50,070,000), (iv) repayment of 
existing debts of the Group (approximately HK$30,043,000), and (v) general working capital (approximately 
HK$39,657,000).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

During the year ended 31 March 2016, the Group has applied the net proceed as follows:

Amount 
available

Amount 
utilised

Amount 
unutilised

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

– Acquisition of potential targets principally 
engaged in the mobile application business  
in the PRC 180,253 100,191 80,062

– Potential investment opportunities and/or 
related funding requirements associated  
with investment opportunities identified  
from time to time 180,253 97,100 83,153

– Development and operation of the Group’s 
proposed establishment of e-commerce 
business 50,070 32,319 17,751

– Repayment of existing debts of the Group 30,043 30,043 –
– General working capital 39,657 39,657 –   

480,276 299,310 180,966   

The unutilised net proceeds are placed in the bank accounts of the Group.

Liquidity and financing
There were no bank borrowings as at 31 March 2016 (2015: Nil). The Group’s cash and bank deposits were 
approximately HK$238,292,000 (2015: HK$46,424,000). The Group’s gearing ratio, calculated by aggregate 
of amounts of other loan and promissory notes over total assets decreased to zero (2015: 12.01%).

Treasury policies
Cash and bank deposits of the Group are mainly in Hong Kong dollars. The Group conducts its core business 
transactions mainly in Hong Kong dollars such that the Group did not use any derivative instruments to 
hedge its foreign currency exposure as the Group considered its foreign currency exposure is insignificant.

Pledge of assets
As at 31 March 2016, no asset of the Group was being pledged as there is no external financing (2015: Nil).

Employee Information
As at 31 March 2016, the Group had 10 (2015: 14) employees whom are employed in Hong Kong and 
Mainland China. They are remunerated at market level with benefits such as medical, retirement benefit and 
share option scheme.
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Report of the Directors

The Directors present their annual report and the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company 
and the Group for the year ended 31 March 2016.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details of the principal activities of the 
subsidiaries are set out in note 23 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS
The Group’s profit for the year ended 31 March 2016 and the state of affairs of the Company and the Group 
at that date are set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 23 to 91.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend (2015: Nil).

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION
A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests of the Group for the 
last five financial years is set out on page 92 of this annual report. This summary does not form part of the 
audited consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group during the year are set out in note 
16 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
Details of movements in the Company’s issued share capital, together with the details of the Company’s 
share option schemes are set out in the notes 31, 32 and 33 to the consolidated financial statements. During 
the year ended 31 March 2016, no share option has been granted.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles of association (the “Articles of 
Association”) or the Companies Law (as revised) of the Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company to 
offer new shares on a pro rata basis to the existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SECURITIES
During the year ended 31 March 2016, neither the Company nor its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed 
any of its listed securities.
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Report of the Directors

RESERVES
Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group during the year are set out in note 34 
to the consolidated financial statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in equity, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
At 31 March 2016, the Company had no reserves available for distribution under the provisions of the 
Companies Law (as revised) of the Cayman Islands (2015: Nil).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
In the year under review, sales to the Group’s 5 largest customers accounted for 80.14% (2015: 90.43%) of 
the total sales for the year and sales to the largest customer included therein amounted to 29.84% (2015: 
70.36%). The aggregate purchases during the year attributable to the Group’s 5 largest suppliers accounted 
for 99.06% (2015: 100%) of the Group’s total purchases for the year and the purchase from the largest 
supplier included therein amounted to 95.22% (2015: 90.40%).

None of the Directors or any of their associates or any shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”)
(which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) 
had any beneficial interest in the Group’s 5 largest customers or the Group’s 5 largest suppliers.

OVERVIEW AND PERFORMANCE OF THE YEAR
A review of the business of the Group and analysis of the Group’s performance using financial key 
performance indicators is provided in the Management Discussion and Analysis section on pages 5 to 6 of 
this annual report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
A number of factors may affect the results and business operations of the Group, the principal risks and 
uncertainties faced by the Group are set out below:

Operational Risks
Our revenue is mainly derived from contracts which are not recurring in nature and any significant decrease 
in the number of our contracts would affect our operations and financial results.

22.22% (2015: 100%) of our revenue during the year ended 31 March 2016 was derived from advertising 
and value added services through mobile devices and production and distribution of films and provision of 
other film related services. Our engagements with customers were on a project basis and non-recurring in 
nature. No long term agreement or master service agreement was entered into with our customers as at the 
date of this annual report. After completion of the contract, our customers are not obliged to engage us 
again in subsequent contracts, and we have to undergo the tendering process for every new contract. There 
is no assurance that our existing customers will award new contracts to us, nor can we guarantee that we 
would be able to maintain our business relationships with existing customers. In the event that we are unable 
to attract new customers or secure new contracts from our existing customers, there may be a significant 
decrease in our revenue, and our operations and financial results would hence be adversely affected.
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Report of the Directors

Equity price risks
Equity price risk arises from fluctuation in quoted market price of the Group’s investment in financial assets. 
The Group counter the equity price risk by ensuring a board diversification of the Group’s investment 
portfolio and ensuring the investment portfolio are frequently reviewed and monitored.

Liquidity risks
Liquidity risk is the potential that our Group will not be able to meet its obligations when fall due. In order 
to manage the liquidity risk, the Group will continually monitors cash flows and maintains an adequate level 
of cash and credit facilities to ensure the Group to meet its finance needs.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE
As a responsible corporation, the Group plays an important role in protecting our environment and is 
committed to minimise our impact on the environment and natural resources. The Group adheres to the 
principle of recycling and reducing.

The Group encourages and educates staff to save energy and reduce of paper use. It also encourages 
environmental practices such as utilising emails for internal and external communication, setting up recycling 
bins, adopting e-filing in server, double-sided printing and copying, promoting using recycled paper and 
reducing energy consumption by switching off lightings and electrical appliances when they are not in use.

The Company will adopt effective environmental protection by introducing e-communication with our 
shareholders and non-registered holders. The Company encourages investors to read the Company’s 
corporate communication published on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange so as to reduce 
paper consumption.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS
The Group recognises the importance of compliance with regulatory requirements. The Group is committed 
to safeguard the Shareholders’ rights and to enhance corporate governance standard by establishing the 
Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee of the Company.

For the year ended 31 March 2016, the Group has complied, to the best of our knowledge, with all relevant 
rules and regulations that have a significant impact on the Company.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS
The Board recognises that our employees are one of the greatest assets contributing to the Group’s 
future success. The Group strives to motivate its employees with competitive remuneration package and 
opportunities for advancement and improvement of their skills to attract and retain our employees. The Board 
reviews the remuneration package of our employees annually and makes necessary adjustments to conform 
to the prevailing market practices. The Group also adopted share options scheme to reward the contribution 
of the employees as an incentive.

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good relationship with our business partners, 
which including the Group’s customers and suppliers. The Group believes that a healthy relationship can 
be build up by providing better products and enhanced services to the customers, maintaining an effective 
communication channel to the employees and collaborating with key suppliers.
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Report of the Directors

The Group is in a good relationship with its customers and suppliers. As far as the Board is aware, the 
Company did not receive any complaint from customers and suppliers.

The Group engage professional services on investor relationship from service provider for advising and 
promoting professional communication with existing and potential investors.

PROSPECTS
Please refer to the Director’s Statement on pages 3 to 4.

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year and up to the date of this annual report were:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS:
Ms. Sun Wei  
Mr. Yan Zhilei (appointed on 24 July 2015)
Ms. Shen Lihong (resigned on 21 August 2015)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS:
Mr. Liu Kwong Sang
Ms. Wang Miaojun
Ms. Cheung Lai Chun (appointed on 9 April 2015 and resigned on 10 May 2016)
Dr. Wan Ho Yuen Terence (resigned on 9 April 2015) 

The Company has received annual confirmation from each of the independent non-executive Directors as 
regards their independence to the Company and considers that each of the independent non-executive 
Directors is independent to the Company.

According to article 84(1) of the Articles of Association, at each annual general meeting one-third of the 
Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three (3), the number nearest to but 
not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to 
retirement at an annual general meeting at least once every three years.

According to article 84(2) of the Articles of Association, a retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election 
and shall continue to act as a Director throughout the meeting at which he retires. The Directors to retire 
by rotation shall include (so far as necessary to ascertain the number of Directors to retire by rotation) any 
Director who wishes to retire and not to offer himself for re-election. Any further Directors so to retire shall 
be those of the other Directors subject to retirement by rotation who have been longest in office since their 
last re-election or appointment and so that as between persons who became or were last re-elected Directors 
on the same day those to retire shall (unless they otherwise agree among themselves) be determined by lot.

In compliance with articles 84(1) and 84(2) of Articles of Association, Ms. Sun Wei and Mr. Liu Kwong Sang 
will retire by rotation and being eligible, have agreed to offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming 
annual general meeting.

Please refer to “Corporate Governance Report – The Board of Directors” for reasons of resignation of the 
Directors.
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Report of the Directors

DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES
Biographical details of the Directors are set out on page 20 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with 
the Company which is not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of compensation, 
other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS
Save as disclosed in note 40 to the consolidated financial statements, no Director nor their connected entities 
had a material beneficial interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements or contract of 
significance to the business of the Group to which the Company or any of its holding companies, subsidiaries 
or fellow subsidiaries was a party during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the 
business of the Company were entered into or existed during the year.

DIRECTOR’S PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION
Pursuant to the Articles of Association, the Directors or other office of the Company shall be entitled to be 
indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all costs, charges, expenses, losses and liabilities which 
they or any of them, shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted 
in or about the execution of their duty, in their respective offices or otherwise in relation thereto provided 
that this indemnity shall not extend to any matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty which may attach 
to any of said persons. The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance 
coverage for the Directors and officers of the Group during the year ended 31 March 2016, and such 
coverage remained in full force as of the date of this annual report.

DIRECTOR’S INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS
None of the Directors had engaged in any business or had any interest in business which competes or may 
constitutes competition directly or indirectly (within the meaning of the Listing Rules) with the business of 
the Group throughout the year ended 31 March 2016.

EMOLUMENTS OF THE DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND THE FIVE 
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS
Please refer to notes 11 and 12 to the consolidated financial statements for details of the emoluments of the 
Directors, senior management and the five highest paid individuals of the Company.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT
Details of the retirement benefit of the Group are set out in note 41 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Report of the Directors

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT
Save as disclosed in this annual report, there was no equity-linked agreement entered into by the Company 
during the year ended 31 March 2016.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN 
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES
As at 31 March 2016, none of the Directors or chief executive had any interests or short positions in the 
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the 
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance of Hong Kong (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong 
Kong) (the “SFO”)) which would fall to be disclosed to the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong 
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to Division 7 and 8 at the Part XV of the SFO; or interest or short 
positions required to be recorded in the register kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO; 
or interests or short positions which fall to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to 
the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
The Company or any of its subsidiaries did not have any arrangement in place at any time during the period 
whereby the Directors or their respective spouse or minor children can obtain benefit by acquiring the Shares 
of the Company or other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT 
POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES
As at 31 March 2016, according to the register kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of SFO, and 
so far as is known to the Directors or chief executive of the Company, there is no person (other than the 
Directors and chief executive of the Company) had, or was deemed or taken to have, an interest or short 
position in the Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock 
Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or who were directly or indirectly 
interested in 10% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital, including options in respect of 
such capital, carrying voting rights to vote in all circumstances at general meeting of any other member of 
the Group.

PUBLIC FLOAT
Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the 
Directors, as at the date of this annual report, there is sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the 
Company’s issued shares as required under the Listing Rules.

COMPLIANCE WITH PROVISIONS OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE
The Company has complied with all the code provisions in the Corporate Governance Code as set out in 
Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited 
(the “Listing Rules”) during the year ended 31 March 2016 except rule A.4.1 that non-executive directors 
are not appointed for specific terms but are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance 
with the Articles of Association, and rule A.6.7 that independent non-executive Directors did not attend all 
general meetings.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
Details of significant events occurring after the reporting period are set out in note 43 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

AUDITORS
The financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2016 were audited by Elite Partners CPA 
Limited whose term of office will be expired upon the forthcoming annual general meeting. A resolution for 
the re-appointment of Elite Partners CPA Limited as the auditors of the Company will be proposed at the 
forthcoming annual general meeting.

On Behalf of the Board

Sun Wei
Director

Hong Kong, 23 June 2016
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Save as disclosed below, the Company has complied with all the code provisions in the Corporate Governance 
Code (“CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules during the year ended 31 March 2016.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The overall management of the Company’s business is vested in the Board, which assumes the responsibility 
for leadership and control of the Company and is collectively responsible for promotion the success of 
the Company by directing and supervising its affairs. All Directors should take decisions objectively in the 
interests of the Company.

The Board takes the responsibility for all major matters of the Company including: the approval and 
monitoring of all policy matters, overall strategies, internal control and risk management systems, 
appointment and retirement of Directors and other significant financial and operational matters.

The executive Directors are responsible for overseeing the day-to-day management of the Company’s 
operations and implementation of the strategies set by the Board.

The composition of the Board ensures a balance of skills and experience appropriate to the requirements 
of the business of the Company and to the exercising of independent judgement. The Board currently 
comprises four Directors, including two executive Directors and two independent non-executive Directors. The 
names and biographical details of each Director are disclosed on page 20 of this annual report. There is no 
relationship (including financial, business, family or other material relationship) among the members of the 
Board.

Following the resignation of Mr. Hui Chi Yung on 5 February 2014, the Company has not appointed a 
Chairman and thus there has been no segregation of duties during the year.

During the year, the Board at all times met the requirements of the Listing Rules in relation to the 
appointment of at least 3 independent non-executive Directors with at least 1 independent non-executive 
Director possessing appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial management 
expertise.

Dr. Wan Ho Yuen Terence has resigned as an independent non-executive Director and a member of the Audit 
Committee with effect from 9 April 2015 for the reason of his other business commitments.

Ms. Cheung Lai Chun (“Ms. Cheung”) resigned as an independent non-executive Director and a member of 
the Audit Committee with effect from 10 May 2016 in order to focus on her other business and personal 
engagement. Following the resignation of Ms. Cheung and as at the date of this annual report, the number 
of independent non-executive Directors is 2 with at least 1 independent non-executive Director processing 
appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company confirms that it has received from each of the independent non-executive Directors an annual 
confirmation of his/her independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company considers 
the independent non-executive directors are independent.
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One of the independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Liu Kwong Sang is re-appointed for a term of one year 
expiring on 1 September 2016. The other one independent non-executive Director is appointed for no fixed 
term. Each of the independent non-executive Directors are subject to retirement by rotation or re-election in 
accordance with the Articles of Association. Regular Board meetings are held for reviewing and approving 
the financial and operating performance, and considering and approving the overall strategies and policies of 
the Company.

During the year, ten Board meetings were held and the attendance of individual Directors was as follows:

Name of directors Attendance

Ms. Sun Wei 10/10
Mr. Yan Zhilei (appointed on 24 July 2015) 4/7
Ms. Shen Lihong (resigned on 21 August 2015) 5/8
Mr. Liu Kwong Sang 10/10
Ms. Wang Miaojun 10/10
Ms. Cheung Lai Chun (appointed on 9 April 2015 and resigned on 10 May 2016) 7/9
Dr. Wan Ho Yuen Terence (resigned on 9 April 2015) 0/1

BOARD COMMITTEES
In order to strengthen the functions of the Board and to oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs, 
three committees have been established, namely, the Remuneration Committee, the Audit Committee and 
the Nomination Committee. These committees are established with defined written terms of reference.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
The Board has established a Remuneration Committee. As at the date of this annual report, the 
Remuneration Committee comprises one executive Director, Ms. Sun Wei and two independent non-executive 
Directors, namely, Mr. Liu Kwong Sang and Ms. Wang Miaojun. Mr. Liu Kwong Sang is the Chairman of 
the Remuneration Committee. The primary objective for setting up the Remuneration Committee is to 
comply with the code provisions as set out in the CG Code. Its responsibilities are to review and consider 
the Company’s policy for remuneration of Directors and senior management, to recommend to the Board 
the remuneration packages of executive Directors, independent non-executive Directors and the senior 
management.

The Remuneration Committee held one meeting during the year. Details of individual attendance of its 
members are set out below:

Name of members Attendance

Mr. Liu Kwong Sang 1/1
Ms. Sun Wei 1/1

Ms. Wang Miaojun 1/1
Ms. Cheung Lai Chun (appointed on 9 April 2015 and resigned on 10 May 2016) 1/1

During the year, the remuneration committee had reviewed and considered, inter alia, the remuneration 
policy of the Company and the remuneration of the Directors and senior management.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Audit Committee comprised of three members and all of whom are independent non-executive Directors 
of the Company during the year ended 31 March 2016. Ms. Cheung Lai Chun resigned on 10 May 2016 and 
as at the date of this annual report, the Audit Committee comprises two members only. Mr. Liu Kwong Sang 
is the Chairman of the Audit Committee. The primary duties of the Audit Committee are: to independent 
review and supervise the financial reporting process, internal control and risk management systems on an 
ongoing basis, to ensure good communications among Directors and the Company’s auditors, to recommend 
the appointment of external auditors on an annual basis and approval of the audit fees, to assist the 
Board in oversight of the independence, qualifications, performance and compensation of the independent 
accountant, to review interim and annual results announcements as well as the financial statements prior 
to their approval by the Board, to provide advice on audit report, accounting policies and comments to all 
Directors.

The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year. Details of individual attendance of its members are 
set out below:

Name of members Attendance

Mr. Liu Kwong Sang 2/2
Ms. Wang Miaojun 2/2
Ms. Cheung Lai Chun (appointed on 9 April 2015 and resigned on 10 May 2016) 2/2
Dr. Wan Ho Yuen Terence (resigned on 9 April 2015) 0/0

During the year, the Audit Committee had reviewed and considered, inter alia, the annual results for the 
year ended 31 March 2015 and the interim results for the six months ended 30 September 2015. The annual 
report 2016 has been reviewed by the Audit Committee.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
The Company has established the Nomination Committee and adopted written terms of reference in April 
2012, and currently consists of three members, including Ms. Wang Miaojun (Chairperson), Ms. Sun Wei and 
Mr. Liu Kwong Sang, a majority of whom are independent non-executive Directors.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include, among other things, (i) to review Board 
composition structure, size and diversity (including but not limited to gender, age, culture and educational 
background) at least annually; (ii) to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment and 
re-appointment of Directors; and (iii) to assess the independence of independent non-executive Directors.

During the year, three meetings of Nomination Committee were held with attendance of individual member 
is as follows:

Name of members Attendance

Ms. Wang Miaojun 3/3
Ms. Sun Wei 3/3
Mr. Liu Kwong Sang 3/3
Ms. Cheung Lai Chun (appointed on 9 April 2015 and resigned on 10 May 2016) 3/3
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NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS
The Nominat ion Committee i s respons ib le for the formulat ion of nominat ion pol ic ies ,  making 
recommendations to Shareholders on Directors standing for re-election, providing sufficient biographical 
details of Directors to enable Shareholders to make an informed decision and the re-election, and where 
necessary, nominating appropriate persons to fill casual vacancies or as additions to the Board. The 
Nomination Committee from time to time reviews the composition of the Board with particular regard to 
ensuring that there is an appropriate number of directors on the Board independent of management. It also 
identified and nominates qualified individuals for appointment as new Directors.

New Directors will be appointed by the Board. The Nomination Committee will take into consideration criteria 
such as expertise, experience, integrity and commitment when considering new director appointments.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING
As part of an ongoing process of directors’ training, the Directors are updated with the latest development 
regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements from time to time to ensure 
compliance of the same by all Directors. All Directors are encouraged to attend external forum or training 
courses on relevant topics which may count towards continuous professional development training.

Pursuant of code provision A.6.5 of CG Code and Report, which has come to into effect from 1 April 2012, 
all Directors should participate in continuous professional development (“CPD”) to develop and refresh their 
knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant. 
Up to the date of this annual report, the Directors have participated in appropriate continuous professional 
development activities by attending training course on the topics related to corporate governance and 
regulations or by reading materials relevant to the Company’s business or to their duties and responsibilities. 
This is in addition to Directors’ attendance at meetings and review of papers and circulars sent by 
management. 

The participation by individual Directors in the program during the year was recorded in the table below:

Type of CPD 
programmes

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Ms. Sun Wei B
Mr. Yan Zhilei (appointed on 24 July 2015) B
Ms. Shen Lihong (resigned on 21 August 2015) B

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Liu Kwong Sang A, B
Ms. Wang Miaojun B
Ms. Cheung Lai Chun (appointed on 9 April 2015 and resigned on 10 May 2016) B

Notes:

A: attending seminars/forums/workshops/conferences relating to corporate governance and regulations

B: reading materials relevant to the Company’s business or to directors’ duties and responsibilities
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS
The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the 
“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules. All Directors have confirmed, following 
specific enquiry by the Company, that they have fully complied with the Model Code throughout the year 
ended 31 March 2016.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION
The Audit Committee reviews each year with the external auditors of the Company with regards their 
independence, approves their appointment, discusses the scope of their audit, approves their fees, and the 
scope and appropriate fees for any non-audit services requested to be provided by them. During the year, 
the fees paid to the Company’s auditors in respect of audit services amounted to HK$600,000.

The statement of the external auditors of the Company about their reporting responsibilities on the financial 
statements is set out in the “Independent Auditors’ Report” on pages 21 to 22.

The financial statements for the year were audited by Elite Partners CPA Limited whose term of office will 
expire upon the forthcoming annual general meeting. The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board 
that Elite Partners CPA Limited be nominated for re-appointment as the auditors of the Company at the 
forthcoming annual general meeting.

DIRECTOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Board acknowledges their responsibilities for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements 
of the Group and ensures that they are prepared in accordance with statutory requirements and applicable 
accounting standards. The Directors also ensure the timely publication of such consolidated financial 
statements. The statement of the external auditors of the Group, Elite Partners CPA Limited, with regard to 
their reporting responsibilities on the Group’s consolidated financial statements is set out in the Independent 
Auditors’ Report on pages 21 to 22.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
The Board has overall responsibility for the establishment, maintenance and review of the Company’s risk 
management and internal control systems. The Company has established risk management and internal 
control systems and the Board will conduct review on the effectiveness of the system at least annually and 
report the result of the review to the shareholders.

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Li Wing Sum Steven (“Mr. Li”) has been appointed as the company secretary of the Company (“Company 
Secretary”) on 9 May 2014. His primary corporate contact person at the Company is Ms. Sun Wei, an 
executive Director. Mr. Li has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional trainings to update his 
skills and knowledge during the year ended 31 March 2016.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
The right and procedures to convene a general meeting and to demand a poll on resolutions at general 
meetings by the Shareholders are set out in the amended and restated Articles of Association headed 
“General Meetings”, “Notice of General Meetings”, “Proceedings At General Meetings” and “Voting”. 
Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries to the Board by addressing them to the Company Secretary 
by post at the principal place of business of the Company.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
The Company has a shareholders communication policy to set out the Company’s procedures in providing 
Shareholders and investors in respect of the information about the Company.

The Company uses various communication methods to ensure its shareholders are kept well informed. 
These include publication of annual report, various notices, announcements and circulars. The Shareholders’ 
meeting also provides a useful channel for Shareholders to communicate directly with the Board at which the 
Directors are available to answer questions relating to the Company’s affairs. The right to demand voting by 
poll is communicated to the Shareholders by way of circulars. Resolutions are proposed at each Shareholders’ 
meeting on each substantially separate issue, include the election of individual Director.

Certain independent non-executive Directors, for the time when general meetings were held, had other 
business engagements and thus, were not able to attend most general meetings held during the year ended 
31 March 2016. In this regard, the Company Secretary had reminded the relevant independent non-executive 
Directors as well as the current independent non-executive Directors to attend general meetings of the 
Company in future, for compliance of rule A.6.7 as set out in the CG Code.

Participation of individual Directors at general meetings held during the year ended 31 March 2016 is as 
follows:

AGM EGM

Number of Meeting 1 1

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Ms. Sun Wei 0/1 1/1
Mr. Yan Zhilei (appointed on 24 July 2015) 1/1 0/0
Ms. Shen Lihong (resigned on 21 August 2015) 0/0 1/1

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Liu Kwong Sang 1/1 1/1
Ms. Wong Miaojun 0/1 0/1
Ms. Cheung Lai Chun (appointed on 9 April 2015  

and resigned on 10 May 2016) 0/1 0/1
Dr. Wan Ho Yuen Terence (resigned on 9 April 2015) 0/0 0/0
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Biographical Details of Directors

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS 
Ms. Sun Wei (“Ms. Sun”), aged 32, was appointed as an executive Director in February 2014. Ms. Sun 
holds a Bachelor of Arts in English Education degree from Shanghai International Studies University, PRC, 
a Master of Science degree in Finance from Clark University, United States of America and a Postgraduate 
Certificate in Professional Accounting from City University of Hong Kong. Ms. Sun has over five years of 
experience in accounting and administration.

Mr. Yan Zhilei (“Mr. Yan”), aged 37, was appointed as an executive Director in July 2015. Mr. Yan 
graduated with a bachelor’s degree in accounting from 長春稅務學院 (Changchun Taxation College*) in July 
2002. Mr. Yan has over five years of experience in the electronic industry. He also served the positions as 
chief financial officer and deputy general manager in a number of large enterprises in the PRC. As such, Mr. 
Yan has extensive management experience in corporate leadership, corporate development, strategic planning 
and business strategies as well as in critical business decisions.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Liu Kwong Sang (“Mr. Liu”), aged 54, has been an independent non-executive Director since 
September 2004. Mr. Liu has been practising as a certified public accountant in Hong Kong with more 
than 25 years of experience in accounting profession. Mr. Liu graduated from the Hong Kong Polytechnic 
University with a bachelor degree in Accountancy (with honours) and obtained the Master degree in Business 
Administration from the University of Lincoln, the United Kingdom. He is a fellow member of the Institute 
of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified 
Accountants, a fellow member of the Institute of Financial Accountants, the United Kingdom and a fellow 
member of the Institute of Public Accountants (formerly known as “National Institute of Accountants”), 
Australia. Mr. Liu is also a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a 
fellow member of the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong, a Certified Tax Adviser and a fellow member of 
the Society of Registered Financial Planners. Mr. Liu acts as independent non-executive directors of Polytec 
Asset Holdings Limited, securities of which are listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange, and of 
abc Multiactive Limited and of Evershine Group Holdings Limited (formerly known as “TLT Lottotainment 
Group Limited”) whose securities are listed on the GEM board of the Stock Exchange, and of Pacific CMA, 
Inc. whose securities were previously listed on the American Stock Exchange. He was an independent non-
executive director of Dragonite International Limited (formerly known as “Ruyan Group (Holdings) Limited”), a 
company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange, for the period from April 2010 to September 2014.

Ms. Wang Miaojun (“Ms. Wang”), aged 35, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director  
in February 2014. Ms. Wang holds a bachelor degree in Electronics and Information Engineering from 
Shenzhen University. Ms. Wang has over 10 years of experience in IT and media industry. Ms. Wang is 
currently a general manager of the online media department and a director in an online media company. Ms. 
Wang had extensive experience in operation and management and had held management roles in electronics, 
IT and media companies and had an established network of relationship within IT industry in the PRC.

* For identification purpose only
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Independent Auditors’ Report

To the members of
CHINA NATIONAL CULTURE GROUP LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China National Culture Group Limited (the 
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) as set out on page 23 to 91, 
which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at 31 March 2016, and the consolidated 
statement of profit of loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in 
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’  RESPONSIB IL ITY FOR THE CONSOLIDATED F INANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial statements that 
gives a true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by Hong 
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies 
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of 
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. 
This report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility 
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report. We conducted our audit 
in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirement and plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from 
material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including 
the assessment of the risk of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the 
entity’s preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion.
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Independent Auditors’ Report

OPINION
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of 
the Group as at 31 March 2016, and of the Group’s financial performance and cash flows for the year then 
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in 
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Elite Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 23 June 2016

Yip Kai Yin
Practising Certificate Number P05131

10th Floor, 8 Observatory Road,
Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon,
Hong Kong
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
For the year ended 31 March 2016

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

2016 2015

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue 8 38,135 20,429

Cost of sales (30,800) (13,827)  

Gross profit 7,335 6,602

Other revenue 8 1,146 3

Administrative expenses (17,971) (20,243)

Other gains or losses 8 206,849 (126,447)  

Profit/(Loss) from operation 9 197,359 (140,085)

Finance costs 10 (12,324) (17,280)  

Profit/(Loss) before taxation 185,035 (157,365)

Taxation 13 (61,785) (2,629)  

Profit/(Loss) for the year 123,250 (159,994)  

Earnings/(Loss) per share

Earnings/(loss) per share (restated)

– Basic and Diluted (HK cents) 15 1.55 (4.17)  
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 31 March 2016

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

2016 2015

HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit/(Loss) for the year 123,250 (159,994)  

Other comprehensive (expense)/income

Other comprehensive (expense)/income to be reclassified to  

profit or loss in subsequent period:

Exchange differences on translating foreign operations (40) 53

Reclassification adjustments upon disposal of subsidiaries  

during the year 238 –  

Other comprehensive income for the year,  

net of income tax 198 53  

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year 123,448 (159,941)  

Total comprehensive income/(loss) attributable to:

– Owners of the Company 123,448 (159,941)  
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 March 2016

2016 2015

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 16 322 381

Intangible assets 17 148,806 –

Goodwill 18 175,686 264,000

Deposit paid for the acquisition of a subsidiary 20 20,000 –  

344,814 264,381  

Current assets

Inventories 21 2,750 –

Financial assets held for trading 22 459,461 37,180

Accounts receivable 24 24,564 16,525

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 25 25,921 803

Cash and cash equivalents 26 238,292 46,424  

750,988 100,932  

Total assets 1,095,802 365,313  

EQUITY

Capital and reserves

Share capital 31 196,288 98,144

Reserves 34 709,206 203,626  

Total equity 905,494 301,770  
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 March 2016

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

2016 2015

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Current liabilities

Accounts payable 27 1,184 735

Consideration payable 80,000 –

Other payables and accruals 28 5,006 15,810

Promissory notes 29 – 43,877

Tax payables 990 –

Deferred tax liabilities 30 101,021 3,121

Deferred income 2,107 –  

Total liabilities 190,308 63,543  

Total equity and liabilities 1,095,802 365,313  

Net current assets 560,680 37,389  

Total assets less current liabilities 905,494 301,770  

Net assets 905,494 301,770  

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 23 June 2016

Sun Wei Yan Zhilei
Director Director
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 31 March 2016

Attributable to owners of the Company 

Share 
capital

Share 
premium

Share 
option 

reserves

Non-voting 
convertible 
preference 

share
Capital 
reserve

Exchange 
translation 

reserve
Accumulated 

profit/(losses)
Total 

equity
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Note (a))

At 1 April 2014 52,780 362,154 — 257,180 9,800 (288) (497,125) 184,501

Loss for the year — — — — — — (159,994) (159,994)
Other comprehensive loss for the year:

Exchange difference on translating foreign 
operations — — — — — 53 — 53        

Total comprehensive loss for the year — — — — — 53 (159,994) (159,941)        

Placing of shares 7,090 200,895 — — — — — 207,985
Issue of shares upon conversion of 

convertible preference shares 36,740 220,440 — (257,180) — — — —        

Equity-settled share-option arrangement — — 11,709 — — — — 11,709        

Issue of share under share option scheme 1,534 67,691 (11,709) — — — — 57,516        

At 1 April 2015 and 31 March 2015 98,144 851,180 — — 9,800 (235) (657,119) 301,770        

Profit for the year — — — — — — 123,250 123,250
Other comprehensive income for the year:

Exchange difference on translating foreign 
operations — — — — — (40) — (40)

Reclassification adjustments upon disposal 
of subsidiaries during the year — — — — — 238 — 238        

Total comprehensive income for the year — — — — — 198 123,250 123,448        

Reclassification adjustments relating to 
subsidiaries disposal of during the year — — — — (9,800) — 9,800 —

Issue of shares under open offer 98,144 382,737 — — — — — 480,881        

Transaction cost on open offer — (605) — — — — — (605)        

At 31 March 2016 196,288 1,233,312 — — — (37) (524,069) 905,494        

Note:

(a) The capital reserve of the Group represents the difference between the nominal value of the shares of the subsidiaries 

acquired pursuant to the Group Reorganisation in 2004, over the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued in 

exchange therefor.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 31 March 2016

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit/(Loss) before taxation 185,035 (157,365)
Adjustments for:

Finance costs 12,324 17,280
Depreciation 217 181
Amortisation 3,703 –
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries (1,498)  –
Impairment loss in respect of available-for-sale financial asset –  165
Net unrealised gain on financial assets held for trading (341,006)  (22,879)
Net realised (gain)/loss on disposal of financial assets held for trading (1,345)  6,539
Impairment loss in respect of goodwill 137,000 146,260
Impairment loss on in respect of other receivable –  550
Gain on early extinguishment of promissory notes –  (22,266)
Net fair value losses on early redemption of promissory notes –  18,078
Equity-settled share option expenses –  11,709  

Operating cash flows before working capital changes (5,570)  (1,748)
Increase in Inventories (2,750)  –
Increase in accounts receivable (8,039)  (15,065)
Increase in prepayments, deposits and other receivables (24,359)  (498)
Increase in accounts payable 449 700
Decrease in other payables and accruals (9,385)  (1,355)
Increase in deferred Income 2,107 –  

Cash used in operations (47,547)  (17,966)
Hong Kong profit tax paid – (1,158)  

Net cash used in operating activities (47,547)  (19,124)  

Cash flows from investing activities 
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (200)  (191)
Purchase of financial assets held for trading (119,903)  (34,987)
Proceed from disposal of financial assets held for trading 39,973 14,147
Purchase of intangible assets (4,850)  –
Acquistion of a subsidiary (80,000)  –
Deposit paid for acquistion of a subsidiary (20,000)  –
Cash outflow arising on disposal of subsidiaries (62)  –  

Net cash used in investing activities (185,042)  (21,031)  

Cash flows from financing activities
Redemption of promissory notes –  (160,000)
Repayment of other loan –  (21,158)
Repayment of promissory notes (55,800)  –
Transaction cost on open offer (605)  –
Proceeds from issue of shares pursuant to the placing – 207,985
Proceeds from issue of shares pursuant to the open offer 480,881 –
Proceeds from issue of shares under share option scheme –  57,516  

Net cash generated from financing activities 424,476 84,343  

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 191,887 44,188
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 46,424 2,183
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net (19)  53  

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of year 238,292 46,424  

Analysis of balances of cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and bank balances 238,292 46,424  
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2016

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION

China National Culture Group Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated as an exempted company 
with limited liability in the Cayman Islands on 27 August 2002 under the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 
3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The registered office of the Company 
is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The 
principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong is located at Office Unit 403, 4th floor, 
Wing Tuck Commercial Centre, 177-183 Wing Lok Street, Sheung Wan, Hong Kong.

The Group was principally involved in provision of the advertising media services, e-commerce, film 
production and distribution business.

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in Hong Kong dollars (HK$), which is the same as 
the functional currency of the Company.

2. APPL ICAT ION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG F INANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(a) Amendments to HKFRSs and the new interpretation that are mandatorily 
effective for the current year

The Group has applied for the first time in the current year the following amendments 
to HKFRSs and a new Interpretation issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants (the “HKICPA”).

Amendments to HKAS 19 Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions
Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2010 – 2012 Cycle
Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2011 – 2013 Cycle

The initial application of these financial reporting standards does not necessitate material 
changes in the Group’s accounting policies and retrospective adjustments of the comparatives 
presented in the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2016

2. APPL ICAT ION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG F INANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(b) New and revised standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised HKFRSs that have been issued 
but are not yet effective.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments1

HKFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts2

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers1

HKFRS 16 Lease3

Amendments to HKFRS 11 Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations2

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure Intitative2

Amendments to HKAS 16 and 
HKAS 38

Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and 
Amortisation2

Amendments to HKAS 16 and 
HKAS 41

Agriculture: Bearer Plants2

Amendments to HKAS 27 Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements2

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and 
HKAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its 
Associate or Joint Venture4

Amendments to HKFRS 10, 
HKFRS 12 and HKAS 28

Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception2

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle2

1 Effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, with earlier application permitted.
2 Effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016, with earlier application permitted.
3 Effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, with earlier application permitted.
4 No mandatory effective date but is available for early adoption.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 9 issued in 2009 introduces new requirements for the classification and measurement 
of financial assets. HKFRS 9 was subsequently amended in 2010 to include the requirements 
for the classification and measurement of financial liabilities and for derecognition, and further 
amended in 2013 to include the new requirements for hedge accounting. Another revision 
version of HKFRS 9 was issued in 2014 mainly to include (a) impairment requirements for 
financial assets and (b) limited amendments to the classification and measurement requirements 
by introducing a “fair value through other comprehensive income” measurement category for 
certain simple debt instruments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2016

2. APPL ICAT ION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG F INANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(b) New and revised Standards and Interpretations issued but not yet effective 
(Continued)

Key requirements of HKFRS 9 are described below:

•	 All	 recognised	 financial	 assets	 that	 are	 within	 the	 scope	 of	 HKAS	 39	 “Financial	
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement” are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost or fair value. Under HKFRS 9, debt investments that are held within a business 
model whose objective is to collect the contractual cash flows, and that have contractual 
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding 
are generally measured at amortised cost at the end of subsequent accounting periods. 
All other debt investments and equity investments are measured at their fair values at 
the end of subsequent reporting periods. In addition, under HKFRS 9, entities may take 
an irrevocable election to present subsequent changes in the fair value of an equity 
investment (that is not held for trading) in other comprehensive income, with only 
dividend income generally recognised in profit or loss.

•	 With	 regard	 to	 the	 measurement	 of	 financial	 liabilities	 designated	 as	 at	 fair	 value	
through profit or loss, HKFRS 9 requires that the amount of change in the fair value 
of the financial liability that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability 
is presented in other comprehensive income, unless the recognition of the effects of 
changes in the liability’s credit risk in other comprehensive income would create or 
enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. Changes in fair value of financial 
liabilities attributable to changes in the financial liabilities’ credit risk are not subsequently 
reclassified to profit or loss. Under HKAS 39, the entire amount of the change in fair 
value of the financial liabilities designated as at fair value through profit or loss was 
presented in profit or loss.

•	 In	 relation	to	 the	 impairment	of	 financial	assets,	HKFRS	9	 requires	an	expected	credit	 loss	
model, as opposed to an incurred credit loss model under HKAS 39. The expected credit 
loss model requires an entity to account for expected credit losses and changes in those 
expected credit losses at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial 
recognition. In other words, it is no longer necessary for a credit event to have occurred 
before credit losses are recognised.

•	 The	 new	 general	 hedge	 accounting	 requirements	 retain	 the	 three	 types	 on	 hedge	
accounting mechanisms currently available in HKAS 39. Under HKFRS 9, greater 
flexibility has been introduced to the types of transactions eligible for hedge accounting, 
specifically broadening the types of instruments that qualify for hedge accounting. In 
additions, the effectiveness test has been overhauled and replaced with the principle of 
an “economic relationship”. Retrospective assessment of hedge effectiveness is also no 
longer required. Enhanced disclosure requirements about an entity’s risk management 
activities have also been introduced.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of HKFRS 9 in the future may have 
significant impacts on amounts reported in respect of the Group’s financial assets and financial 
liabilities. Regarding the Group’s financial assets and liabilities, it is not practicable to provide a 
reasonable estimate of that effect until a detailed review has been completed.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all applicable 
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective term includes all applicable 
individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) 
and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and 
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinances. These consolidated financial 
statements also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules.

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with HKFRSs under the 
historical cost basis, except for certain financial instruments, which are measured at fair values at the 
end of each reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods 
and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date regardless of whether that price 
is directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value 
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if 
market participants would take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at 
the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated 
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that 
are within the scope of HKFRS 2, leasing transactions that are within the scope of HKAS 17, and 
measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable 
value in HKAS 2 or value in use in HKAS 36.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 
or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the 
significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

•		 Level	 1	 inputs	 are	 quoted	 prices	 (unadjusted)	 in	 active	 markets	 for	 identical	 assets	 or	 liabilities	
that the entity can access at the measurement date;

•		 Level	 2	 inputs	 are	 inputs,	 other	 than	quoted	prices	 included	within	 Level	 1,	 that	 are	 observable	
for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

•		 Level	3	 inputs	are	unobservable	 inputs	for	the	asset	or	 liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities 
controlled by the Group and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Group:

–  has power over the investee;

–  is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and

–  has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that 
there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it has power over the 
investee when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant 
activities of the investee unilaterally. The Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in 
assessing whether or not the Group’s voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power, 
including:

– the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of 
the other vote holders;

–  potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote holders or other parties;

–  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

– any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Group has, or does not have, 
the current ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made, 
including voting patterns at previous shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases 
when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary 
acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income/ consolidated statement of profit or loss from the date the Group 
gains control until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the 
Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed 
to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the 
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their 
accounting policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions 
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Business combination

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration 
transferred in a business combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the 
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group 
to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for 
control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised at 
their fair value at the acquisition date, except that:

•	 deferred	tax	assets	or	 liabilities	and	 liabilities	or	assets	related	to	employee	benefit	arrangements	
are recognised and measured in accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes and HKAS 19 Employee 
Benefits respectively;

•	 liabilities	 or	 equity	 instruments	 related	 to	 share-based	 payment	 transactions	 of	 the	 acquiree	 or	
the replacement of an acquiree’s share-based payment transactions with share-based payment 
transactions of the Group are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment at 
the acquisition date; and

•	 assets	 (or	 disposal	 groups)	 that	 are	 classified	 as	 held	 for	 sale	 in	 accordance	 with	 HKFRS	 5	 Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that 
standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any 
non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity 
interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets 
acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after assessment, the net of the acquisition-date amounts 
of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration 
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the 
acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in 
profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controll ing interests that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a 
proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured 
either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the recognised amounts 
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction-
by-transaction basis. Other types of non-controlling interests are measured at their fair value or, when 
applicable, on the basis specified in another HKFRS.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Business combination (Continued)

Where the consideration the Group transfers in a business combination includes assets or liabilities 
resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured at 
its acquisition-date fair value and considered as part of the consideration transferred in a business 
combination. Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify as measurement 
period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively, with the corresponding adjustments being made 
against goodwill or gain on bargain purchase. Measurement period adjustments are adjustments 
that arise from additional information obtained during the measurement period about facts and 
circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date. Measurement period does not exceed one year 
from the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that do not 
qualify as measurement period adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration is classified. 
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting 
dates and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration that is 
classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured at subsequent reporting dates in accordance with 
HKAS 39, or HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, as appropriate, with 
the corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s previously held equity interest in the 
acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group obtains 
control), and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss. Amounts arising from 
interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have previously been recognised in other 
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss where such treatment would be appropriate if 
that interest were disposed of.

Changes in the value of the previously held equity interest recognised in other comprehensive income 
and accumulated in equity before the acquisition date are reclassified to profit or loss when the Group 
obtains control over the acquiree.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period 
in which the combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the 
accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement period (see 
above), or additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about 
facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the 
amounts recognised as of that date.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as established at the date of 
acquisition of the business (see the accounting policy above) less accumulated impairment losses, if 
any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating 
units (or groups of cash-generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the 
combination.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually, or 
more frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable amount 
of the cash-generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to 
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the 
unit pro rata based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill 
is recognised directly in profit or loss. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in 
subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in 
the determination of the profit or loss on disposal.

Foreign currencies

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong Dollars. Each entity in the Group 
determines its own functional currency and items included in the financial statements of each entity 
are measured using that functional currency.

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies other 
than the entity’s functional currency (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange 
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary items 
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary 
items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates 
prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in 
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they 
arise, except for exchange differences on monetary items receivable from or payable to a foreign 
operation for which settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming part of the net 
investment in the foreign operation), which are recognised initially in other comprehensive income and 
reclassified from equity to profit or loss on repayment of the monetary items.



37AnnuAl RepoRt 2016

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2016

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purposes of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the 
Group’s foreign operations are translated into Hong Kong dollars using exchange rates prevailing at 
the end of each reporting period. Income and expense items are translated at the average exchange 
rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case 
the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are 
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the heading of exchange 
translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign 
operation, or a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, a 
disposal involving loss of joint control over a jointly controlled entity that includes a foreign operation, 
or a disposal involving loss of significant influence over an associate that includes a foreign operation), 
all of the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of that operation attributable to the 
owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

In relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that does not result in the Group losing control over 
a subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences are reattributed to non-
controlling interests and are not recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e. partial 
disposals of associates or jointly controlled entities that do not result in the Group losing significant 
influence or joint control), the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange differences is 
reclassified to profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired arising on the acquisition of foreign 
operation are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the rate of 
exchange prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Exchange differences arising are recognised 
in equity under the heading of exchange translation reserve.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost, 
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

The cost of an asset comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the 
asset to its working condition and location for its intended use. Expenditure incurred after property, 
plant and equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is normally 
charged to profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where it can be clearly 
demonstrated that the expenditure has resulted in an increase in the future economic benefits 
expected to be obtained from the use of the property, plant and equipment, the expenditure is 
capitalised as an additional cost of that property, plant and equipment.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets less their residual values over their 
useful lives, using the straight-line method. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are as 
follow:

Leasehold improvement Over the terms of lease or 3 years, whichever is shorter
Motor vehicles 20%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 20%

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic 
benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the 
disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference 
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment of tangible assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible assets 
to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If 
any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the 
extent of the impairment loss (if any). When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of 
an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which 
the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate 
assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the 
smallest group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be 
identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value 
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount 
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the 
asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its 
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or the cash-generating unit) is reduced to its 
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating 
unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying 
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment 
loss been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment 
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible 
assets acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the date of acquisition. The useful lives 
of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are 
subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is 
an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation 
method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment annually either individually or at 
the cash-generating unit level. Such intangible assets are not amortised. The useful life of an intangible 
asset with an indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether indefinite life assessment 
continues to be supportable. If not, the change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is 
accounted for on a prospective basis. Investments and other financial assets

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less provision for impairment. A provision for 
impairment of trade and other receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the 
Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of receivables. The 
amount of the provision is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value 
of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the effective interest rate. The amount of the provision 
is recognised in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on the 
weighted average method and in the case of work in progress and finished goods, comprises direct 
materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is based on 
estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term 
highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result 
of a past event, it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable 
estimate of the amount can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the 
present obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties 
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the 
present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of 
the time value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered 
from a third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement 
will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differ from ‘loss 
before taxation’ as reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss because of items of 
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or 
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the 
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable 
profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred 
tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is 
probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be 
utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises 
from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets 
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxation profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in 
subsidiaries and associates, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary 
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and 
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to 
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the 
period when the liability is settled or the asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have 
been enacted or substantially enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow 
from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle 
the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax for the year

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that 
are recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and 
deferred tax are also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. 
Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a business combination, the 
tax effect is included in the accounting for the business combination.
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Employee benefits

Retirement benefits schemes

The Group operates defined contribution retirement benefits schemes in Hong Kong, including 
a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”), for those employees who are eligible 
and have elected to participate in the schemes. Contributions are made based on a percentage 
of the participating employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the schemes. The 
assets of the schemes are held separately from those of the Group in independently administered 
funds. When an employee leaves the schemes, with the exception of the MPF Scheme, prior to his/ her 
interest in the Group’s employer contributions vesting fully, the ongoing contributions payable by the 
Group may be reduced by the relevant amount of any forfeited contributions. In respect of the MPF 
Scheme, the Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed into the 
scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiary which operates in the PRC are required to participate in a 
central pension scheme operated by the local municipal government. The subsidiary is required to 
contribute certain percentage of its payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The contributions 
are charged to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income as they become payable in 
accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.

Share-based payment arrangements

Share-based payment transactions of the Company

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others providing similar services are measured 
at the fair value of the equity instruments at the grant date. Details regarding the determination of 
the fair value of equity-settled share-based transaction are set out in Note 33.

The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on 
a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of equity instruments that 
will eventually vest, with a corresponding increase in equity.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of the number of equity 
instruments expected to vest. The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised 
in profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding 
adjustment to share option reserves.

For share options that vest immediately at the date of grant, the fair value of the share options 
granted is expensed immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in share option reserves will 
be transferred to share premium. When share options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still 
not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share option reserves will be 
transferred to retained earnings.
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Revenue

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and when 
the revenue can be measured reliably on the following bases:

(i) advertising income, on a straight-line basis over the period during the advertisement is 
displayed;

(ii) on-line advertising and media related service income is recognised when the service is rendered; 

(iii) interest income, on a time proportion basis taking into account the principal outstanding and 
the effective interest rate applicable;

(iv) movie production and related income is recognised when the service is rendered; and

(v) membership fee is recognised on a time proportion basis; and

(vi) sales of products over the internet are recognised when the products are delivered and title has 
passed.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group entity becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are 
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than 
financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted 
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. 
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair 
value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into the following specified categories: financial assets held 
for trading and loans and receivables. The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the 
financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition. All regular way purchases or sales 
of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or 
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame 
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.
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Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and 
of allocating interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly 
discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid or received that form an 
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through 
the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying 
amount on initial recognition.

Income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt instruments other than those financial 
assets classified as at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”).

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL when the financial asset is either held for trading or it is 
designated as at FVTPL.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

•	 it	has	been	acquired	principally	for	the	purpose	of	selling	 it	 in	the	near	term;	or

•	 on	 initial	 recognition	 it	 is	 part	 of	 a	 portfolio	 of	 identified	 financial	 instrument	 that	 the	 Group	
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

•	 it	 is	a	derivative	that	 is	not	designated	and	effective	as	a	hedging	 instrument.

A financial asset other than a financial asset held for trading may be designated as at FVTPL upon 
initial recognition if:

•	 such	designation	 eliminates	 or	 significantly	 reduces	 a	measurement	or	 recognition	 inconsistency	
that would otherwise arise; or

•	 the	 financial	 asset	 forms	 part	 of	 a	 group	 of	 financial	 assets	 or	 financial	 liabilities	 or	 both,	
which is managed and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with 
the Group’s documented risk management or investment strategy, and information about the 
grouping is provided internally on that basis; or

•	 it	 forms	 part	 of	 a	 contract	 containing	 one	 or	 more	 embedded	 derivatives,	 and	 HKAS	 39	
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement permits the entire combined contract to be 
designated as at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on remeasurement 
recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss incorporates any dividend 
or interest earned on the financial asset and is included in the ‘other gains and losses’ line item. Fair 
value is determined in the manner described in Note 21.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are 
not quoted in an active market. Loans and receivables (including accounts receivable, other receivables 
and cash and cash equivalents) are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less 
any impairment.

Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate, except for short-term receivables 
when the recognition of interest would be immaterial.

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of 
each reporting period. Financial assets are considered to be impaired when there is objective evidence 
that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, 
the estimated future cash flows of the investment have been affected.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment could include:

•	 significant	financial	difficulty	of	the	 issuer	or	counterparty;	or

•	 breach	of	contract,	such	as	a	default	or	delinquency	 in	 interest	or	principal	payments;	or

•	 it	becoming	probable	that	the	borrower	will	enter	bankruptcy	or	financial	re-organisation;	or

•	 the	disappearance	of	an	active	market	for	that	financial	asset	because	of	financial	difficulties.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For certain categories of financial asset, such as accounts receivable, assets that are assessed not 
to be impaired individually are, in addition, assessed for impairment on a collective basis. Objective 
evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past experience of 
collecting payments, an increase in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the average 
credit period of 60 days to its contract customers and 180 days for advertising customers, as well as 
observable changes in national or local economic conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss recognised is the 
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, 
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows 
discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment loss will 
not be reversed in subsequent periods (see the accounting policy below).

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial 
assets with the exception of accounts receivable, where the carrying amount is reduced through the 
use of an allowance account. When an account receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written 
off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are 
credited against the allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are 
recognised in profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the 
impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the 
impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or 
loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the investment at the date the impairment is reversed 
does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified as either financial liabilities or as 
equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a 
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of and entity after 
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are recognised at the proceeds 
received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is recognised and deducted directly in equity. 
No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the 
Company’s own equity instruments.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities (including promissory notes, loans from shareholders, accounts payable and 
other payables and accruals) are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability 
and of allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that 
exactly discounts estimated future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or received that 
form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) 
through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net 
carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis other than financial liabilities classified as 
at fair value through profit or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from 
the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises 
its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability. If the Group retains substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the 
financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the asset’s carrying 
amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that 
had been recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity is recognised in profit 
or loss.

On derecognition of a financial asset other than in its entirety, the Group allocates the previous 
carrying amount of the financial asset between the part it continues to recognise, and the part it no 
longer recognises on the basis of the relative fair values of those parts on the date of the transfer. 
The difference between the carrying amount allocated to the part that is no longer recognised and 
the sum of the consideration received for the part no longer recognised and any cumulative gain or 
loss allocated to it that had been recognised in other comprehensive income is recognised in profit or 
loss. A cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income is allocated 
between the part that continues to be recognised and the part that is no longer recognised on the 
basis of the relative fair values of those parts.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are 
discharged, cancelled or they expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial 
liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term, 
except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic 
benefits from the leased asset are consumed. Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are 
recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are 
recognised as a liability. The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental 
expense on a straight-line basis, except where another systematic basis is more representative of the 
time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Contingent assets and liabilities

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will only 
be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly 
within the control of the Group. It can also be a present obligation arising from past events that is 
not recognised because it is not probable that outflow of economic resources will be required or the 
amount of obligation cannot be measured reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements. When a change in the probability of an outflow occurs so that the outflow is probable, it 
will then be recognised as a provision.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be 
confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not 
wholly within the control of the Group. A contingent asset is not recognised but is disclosed in the 
notes to the consolidated financial statements when an inflow of economic benefits is probable. When 
inflow is virtually certain, an asset is recognised.

Segment information

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item reported in the financial statements, 
are identified from the financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most senior executive 
management for the purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of, the 
Group’s various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the 
segments have similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of products and 
services and the methods used to distribute the products or provide the services. Operating segments 
which are not individually material may be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

Related parties

For the purposes of these financial statements, related parties include a person and entity as defined 
below:

(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or of a parent of the 
Group.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

or

(b) An entity is related to the Group (reporting entity) if any of the following conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same group (which means that each 
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others);

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary 
or fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third entity;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the 
third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the 
Group or an entity related to the Group. If the reporting entity is itself such a plan, the 
sponsoring employers are also related to the plan;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant voting power in the entity or is a member of 
the key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a Group of which it is a part, provides key management 
personnel services to the Group or to the parent of the Group.

A transaction is considered to be a related party transaction when there is a transfer of resources or 
obligations between related parties.

Current assets and liabilities

Current assets are expected to be realised within twelve months of the reporting date or in the normal 
course of the operating cycle. Current liabilities are expected to be settled within twelve months of 
the reporting date or in the normal course of the operating cycle.
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4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Categories of financial instruments

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets
Financial assets held for trading 459,461 37,180
Loans and receivables (including cash and cash 

equivalents) 301,997 62,986  

761,458 100,166  

Financial liabilities
Amortised cost 86,190 60,422  

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including foreign 
currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s and overall risk 
management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to 
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

Management regularly manages the financial risks of the Group. Because of the simplicity of 
the financial structure and the current operations of the Group, no major hedging activities are 
undertaken by management.

Market risk

(i) Foreign currency risk management

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency risk as most of its business 
transactions, assets and liabilities are principally denominated in the functional currency 
of the Group entities. The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging 
policy in respect of foreign currency transactions, assets and liabilities. The Group 
monitors its foreign currency exposure closely and will consider hedging significant 
foreign currency exposure should the need arise.
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4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(ii) Interest rate risk management

The Group’s interest rate risk arises from interest-bearing borrowings. Other payables and 
accruals and promissory notes, as disclosed in Notes 28 and 29 respectively, which issued 
at fixed rates, expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk. The Group did not enter 
into interest rate swap to hedge against its exposures to changes in fair values of the 
borrowings.

The Group considers that there is no significant cash flow interest rate risk as the Group 
does not have variable-rate borrowings.

The Group’s exposure to interest rates on financial liabilities is detailed in the liquidity 
risk management section of this note.

Credit risk management

As at 31 March 2016, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial 
loss to the Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties is arising from 
the carrying amount of the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the consolidated 
statements of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group has delegated a team 
responsible for determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures 
to ensure that follow up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group 
reviews the recoverable amount of each individual trade debt and debt investments at the end 
of each reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable 
amounts.

The credit risk on liquid funds including cash and bank balances is limited because the 
counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings assigned by international credit-rating 
agencies.

Other than concentration of credit risk on liquid funds which are deposited with several banks 
with high credit ratings, the Group does not have any other significant concentration of credit 
risk.
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4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk management

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the Board of Directors, which has 
built an appropriate liquidity risk management framework to meet the Group’s short, medium 
and long-term funding and liquidity management requirements. The Group manages liquidity 
risk by maintaining adequate reserves and banking facilities, continuously monitoring forecast 
and actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and financial 
liabilities.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative 
financial liabilities. The tables below have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows 
of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay.

At 31 March 2016

Within 
1 year

2 to 
5 years

Over 
5 years

Total 
undiscounted 

cash flows

Total 
carrying 
amount

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-derivative 
financial  
liabilities

Accounts payable 1,184 — — 1,184 1,184
Consideration payable 80,000 80,000 80,000
Other payables and accruals 5,006 — — 5,006 5,006     

86,190 — — 86,190 86,190     

At 31 March 2015

Weighted 

average 

effective 

interest rate

Within 

1 year

2 to 

5 years

Over 

5 years

Total 

undiscounted 

cash flows

Total 

carrying 

amount

% HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-derivative 
financial  
liabilities

Accounts payable – 735 – – 735 735

Other payables and 

accruals – 15,810 – – 15,810 15,810

Promissory notes 13.73 55,800 – – 55,800 43,877     

72,345 – – 72,345 60,422     
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4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk management (Continued)

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial instruments, other than those 
with carrying amounts that reasonably approximately to fair values, are as follows:

2016 2015
Carrying 
amount

Fair 
value

Carrying 
amount

Fair 
value

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-derivative 
financial liabilities
Promissory notes — — 43,877 53,972    

Fair value measurements recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position

The Group’s financial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair 
value are grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is observable:

•	 Level	 1	 fair	 value	 measurements	 are	 those	 derived	 from	 quoted	 prices	 (unadjusted)	 in	
active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

•	 Level	 2	 fair	 value	 measurements	 are	 those	 derived	 from	 inputs	 other	 than	 quoted	 prices	
included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as 
prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and

•	 Level	 3	 fair	 value	 measurements	 are	 those	 derived	 from	 valuation	 techniques	 that	
include inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data 
(unobservable inputs).

No analysis is disclosed since the Group has no financial instruments that are measured 
subsequent to initial recognition at fair value at the end of the reporting period.

There were no transfers between Levels 1 and 2 and 3 in both years.
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4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy

The following table illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group’s financial 
instruments:

At 31 March 2016

Fair value measurement using
Quoted prices 

in active 
markets 

(Level 1)

Significant 
observable 

inputs 
(Level 2)

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs 
(Level 3) Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets:
Financial assets held  

for trading 459,461 — — 459,461    

At 31 March 2015

Fair value measurement using

Quoted prices in 
active markets 

(Level 1)

Significant 
observable inputs 

(Level 2)

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs 
(Level 3) Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets:
Financial assets held for trading 37,180 — — 37,180    

Non-derivative financial 
liabilities:
Promissory notes — 43,877 — 43,877    

The promissory notes’ fair values were computed based on discount cash flow method. The 
fair value of promissory notes were mainly driven by the discount rate which incorporated the 
equivalent credit rating of the Group and risk free rate.
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5. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going 
concern while maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity 
balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt (which includes promissory notes). The ratio is 
calculated based on total debt and total assets of the Group. The directors of the Company review 
the capital structure on a continuous basis. As part of this review, the directors consider the cost of 
capital and the risks associated with capital. Based on recommendations of the directors, the Group 
will balance its overall capital structure through the payment of dividends and issuance of new shares 
as well as the addition of new borrowings.

The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.

Gearing ratio

The gearing ratios at 31 March 2016 and 31 March 2015 were as follows:

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Debt (Note (a)) — 43,877  

Assets (Note (b)) 1,095,802 365,313  

Gearing ratio 0% 12.01%  

Notes:

(a) Debt comprises promissory notes as detailed in Note 29.

(b) Assets includes all current and non-current assets of the Group.
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6. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 3, management is 
required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions 
are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results 
may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that 
period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and 
future periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation 
uncertainty at the end of the reporting period that have a significant risk of causing material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

(a) Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong and the People’s Republic of China (the 
“PRC”). Significant judgment is required in determining the provision for income taxes. There 
are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain 
during the ordinary course of business. The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit 
issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome 
of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will 
impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is 
made.

(b) Impairment of property, plant and equipment

In accordance with HKAS 16, the Group estimates the useful lives of property, plant and 
equipment in order to determine the amount of depreciation expenses to be recorded. The 
useful lives are estimated at the time the asset is acquired based on historical experience, the 
expected usage, wear and tear of the assets, as well as technical obsolescence arising from 
changes in the market demands or service output of the assets. The Group also performs annual 
reviews on whether the assumptions made on useful lives continue to be valid. The Group tests 
annually whether the assets have suffered any impairment. The recoverable amount of an asset 
or a cash generating unit is determined based on value in use calculations which require the use 
of assumptions and estimates.

(c) Fair value estimation

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets, including accounts receivable, other 
receivables, and cash and bank balances, and financial liabilities, including accounts payable, 
other payables and accruals and promissory notes, approximate their fair values due to their 
short maturities. The face values less any credit adjustments for financial assets and liabilities 
with a maturity of less than one year are assumed to approximate their fair values.
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6. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(d) Impairment of accounts receivable and other receivables

The aged debt profile of accounts receivable and other receivables is reviewed on a regular 
basis to ensure that the accounts receivable balances are collectible and follow up actions are 
promptly carried out if the agreed credit periods have been exceeded. However, from time to 
time, the Group may experience delays in collection. Where recoverability of receivables are 
called into doubts, specific provisions for bad and doubtful debts are made based on credit 
status of the debtors, the aged analysis of the accounts receivable balances and write-off 
history. Certain receivables may be initially identified as collectible, yet subsequently become 
uncollectible and result in a subsequent write-off of the related receivables to the statement of 
comprehensive income. Changes in the collectability of accounts receivable for which provisions 
are not made could affect our results of operations.

(e) Impairment for goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the 
cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated. The value in use calculation 
requires the Group to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-generating 
unit and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value.

The carrying amount of goodwill as at 31 March 2016 was approximately HK$175,686,000 
(2015: HK$264,000,000). Details of the impairment loss calculation are disclosed in Note 18.

(f) Valuation of intangible assets and useful lives

The Group has made estimations and assumptions in relation to the potential future cash flows 
of identifiable intangible assets acquired as part of business combinations. This assessment 
involves estimations and assumptions relating to potential future revenues, appropriate discount 
rates and the useful lives of such assets. These estimations and assumptions impact the profit or 
loss over the useful life of the intangible asset.

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION

For the purposes of resources allocation and performance assessment, information is reported to the 
chief operating decision maker of the Company, based on the following operating and reportable 
segments:

(a) the advertising segment — provision of advertising and value added services through mobile 
devices;

(b) the movie production segment — production and distribution of films and provision of other 
film related services;

(c) the e-commerce segment — sale of products over the internet.
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment revenues and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by operating segment:

Advertising Movie production E-commerce Consolidated
2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Segment revenue:
Contract revenue from 

external customers 8,475 6,054 – 14,375 29,660 – 38,135 20,429        

Segment results 7,004 5,354 – 1,248 331 – 7,335 6,602      

Other revenue and  
unallocated gains 344,995 45,148

Corporate and other 
unallocated expenses (154,971) (191,835)

Finance costs (12,324) (17,280)  

Profit/(Loss) before taxation 185,035 (157,365)
Taxation (61,785) (2,629)  

Profit/(Loss) for the year 123,250 (159,994)  

There were no inter-segment sales during the year (2015: Nil). Segment results represent the profit 
earned without allocation of central administration costs including directors’ salaries, investment and 
other income, gain on disposal of subsidiaries, impairment loss in respect of goodwill, finance costs 
and income tax expense. This is the measure reported to the chief operating decision maker for the 
purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance.



59AnnuAl RepoRt 2016

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2016

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by operating segment:

Advertising Movie production E-commerce Consolidated
2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Segment assets 171,930 48,737 – 14,375 32,148 – 204,078 63,112
Unallocated assets 891,724 302,201  

1,095,802 365,313  

Segment liabilities 105,887 43,332 – – – – 105,887 43,332
Unallocated liabilities 84,421 20,211  

190,308 63,543  

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and allocating resources between segments:

•	 all	 assets	 are	 allocated	 to	 reportable	 segments	 other	 than	 financial	 assets	 held	 for	 trading	 and	
unallocated head office and corporate assets.

•	 all	 liabilities	are	allocated	 to	 reportable	 segments	other	 than	current	 tax	 liabilities,	 consideration	
payable and unallocated head office and corporate liabilities.

Other segment information

Advertising Movie production E-commerce Unallocated Consolidated
2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Depreciation 53 28 – – – – 164 153 217 181
Amortisation 3,077 – – – – – 626 – 3,703 –
Additions to non-current assets 147,659 191 – – 5,050 – – – 152,709 191
Impairment loss in respect of other 

receivables – – – – – – – 550 – 550
Impairment loss in respect of 

goodwill – – – – – – 137,000 146,260 137,000 146,260
Impairment loss in respect of 

available-for-sale financial asset – 165 – – – – – – – 165          
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Geographical information

The Group operates in two principal geographical areas – Hong Kong and the PRC.

The Group’s revenue from external customers by location of operations and information about its non-
current assets by location of assets are detailed below:

Hong Kong The PRC Total
2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue from external customers 29,583 1,650 8,552 18,779 38,135 20,429      

Non-current assets 151,546 264,379 193,268 2 344,814 264,381      

Revenue from its major services

The Group’s revenue from its major services/products was as follows:

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Advertising 8,475 6,054
E-commerce 29,660 –
Movie production and related income – 14,375  

38,135 20,429  

Information about major customer

Revenue from customer of the years ended 31 March 2016 and 2015 contributing over 10% of the 
total revenue of the Group are as follows:

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Customer A – 14,375
Customer B 11,378 –
Customer C 10,599 –
Customer D 7,456 –  

There is no other single customer contributing over 10% of total revenue of the Group for the years 
ended 31 March 2016 and 2015.
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8. REVENUE, OTHER REVENUE AND OTHER GAINS OR LOSSES

An analysis of revenue, other revenue and other gains or losses is as follows:

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue:
Advertising 8,475 6,054
E-commerce 29,660 –
Movie production and related income – 14,375  

38,135 20,429  

Other revenue:
Sundry income 1,146 3  

Other gains or losses:
Net unrealised gain on financial assets held for trading 341,006  22,879 
Net realised gain/(loss) on disposal of financial assets held for 

trading 1,345  (6,539)
Gain on extinguishment of promissory notes –  22,266 
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries 1,498 –
Impairment loss in respect of goodwill (137,000)  (146,260)
Impairment loss in respect of available-for-sale financial asset –  (165)
Net fair value losses on early redemption of promissory notes –  (18,078)
Impairment loss in respect of other receivables –  (550)  

206,849 (126,447)  
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9. PROFIT/(LOSS) FROM OPERATION

The Group’s profit/(loss) from operation is arrived at after charging:

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Auditors’ remuneration 600 550

Depreciation 217 181
Amortisation 3,703 –

Staff costs (excluding directors’ remuneration)
– equity-settled share option expenses – 5,854
– wages and salaries 746 1,661
– pension scheme contributions 30 53  

776 7,568  

Equity-settled share based payment
– directors – 1,171
– employees – 5,854
– consultants – 4,684  

– 11,709  

Minimum lease payments under operating leases:
– land and buildings 320 59  

10. FINANCE COSTS

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest expense on other loan – 431
Imputed interest expense arising from promissory notes wholly  

repayable within five years 12,324 16,849  

12,324 17,280  
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11. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the directors were as follows:

Fees
Salaries and other

benefits
Equity-settled share

options expenses
Pension scheme

contributions Total
2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Executive 
Directors

Ms. Sun Wei – – 120 120 – – – 6 120 126
Mr. Yan Zhilei 

(appointed on  
24 July 2015) – – 165 – – – – – 165 –

Mr. Tsui Wing Tak 
(resigned on  
9 May 2014) – – – 90 – – – – – 90

Ms. Shen Lihong 
(resigned on  
21 August 2015) – – 155 321 – 1,171 – – 155 1,492          

– – 440 531 – 1,171 – 6 440 1,708          

Independent 
Non-Executive 
Directors

Mr. Liu Kwong Sang 120 120 – – – – – – 120 120
Ms. Wang Miaojun 120 120 – – – – – – 120 120
Dr. Wan Ho Yuen 

Terence  
(resigned on  
9 April 2015 3 120 – – – – – – 3 120

Ms. Cheung Lai Chun 
(appointed on  
9 April 2015  
and resigned on  
10 May 2016) 96 – – – – – – – 96 –          

339 360 – – – – – – 339 360          

339 360 440 531 – 1,171 – 6 779 2,068          

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during 
the year.

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors as an inducement to join or 
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office (2015: Nil).



64 CHInA nAtIonAl CultuRe GRoup lIMIteD

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2016

12. EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS
 
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group, four (2015: one) were directors of 
the Company whose emoluments are included in the disclosures in Note 11 above. The emoluments of 
the remaining one (2015: four) individuals was as follows:

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Equity-settled share option expenses – 4,864
Wages and salaries 160 546
Pension scheme contributions 8 19  

168 5,429  

The emolument of one (2015: four) individual with the highest emolument is within the following 
band:

Number of individuals
2016 2015

Nil - HK$ 999,999 1 –
HK$1,000,000 - HK$1,499,999 – 4  
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13.  TAXATION

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% (2015: 16.5%) on the estimated 
assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during the year. No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has 
been made as the Group has no estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during the year 
ended 31 March 2015. Under the Enterprise Income Tax Law of the PRC, the enterprise income tax 
rate applicable to the Group’s companies operating in the PRC is 25% from 1 January 2008 onwards. 
Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the 
countries in which the Group operates, based on existing legislation, interpretations and practices in 
respect thereof.

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Over provision in prior years:
– Hong Kong profits tax – (492)

Current tax
– Hong Kong profits tax 355 –
– PRC enterprise income tax 445 –  

800 (492)
Deferred tax 60,985 3,121  

61,785 2,629  
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13.  TAXATION (Continued)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to loss before taxation using the statutory rates for the 
countries in which the Company and its subsidiaries, are domiciled to the tax expense at the effective 
tax rates, and a reconciliation of tax at the applicable rates (i.e., the statutory tax rates) to the 
effective tax rates, are as follows:

2016
Hong Kong  PRC Total

HK$’000 % HK$’000 % HK$’000 %

Profit before 
taxation 183,256 1,779 185,035      

Tax at applicable tax 
rate 30,237 16.5 444 25.0 30,681 16.6

Tax effect of 
expenses not 
deductible for tax 
purpose 32,309 17.6 – – 32,309 17.5

Tax effect of income 
not taxable for tax 
purpose (61,910) (33.8) – – (61,910) (33.5)

Tax effect of 
tax losses not 
recognised 1,110 0.6 – – 1,110 0.6

Tax effect of 
temporary 
difference not 
recognised 60,266 32.9 – – 60,266 32.6

Utilisation of tax 
losses previously 
not recognised (671) (0.4) – – (671) (0.4)      

Tax charge at the 
Group’s effective 
rate 61,341 33.4 444 25.0 61,785 33.4      
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13.  TAXATION (Continued)

2015
Hong Kong  PRC Total

HK$’000 % HK$’000 % HK$’000 %

Loss before taxation (157,333) (32) (157,365)      

Tax at applicable tax 
rate (25,960) (16.5) (8) (25) (25,968) (16.5)

Tax effect of 
expenses not 
deductible for tax 
purpose 57,504 36.5 – – 57,504 36.5

Tax effect of income 
not taxable for tax 
purpose (33,900) (21.5) – – (33,900) (21.5)

Tax effect of 
tax losses not 
recognised 1,995 1.3 8 25 2,003 1.3

Tax effect of 
temporary 
difference not 
recognised 3,792 2.4 – – 3,792 2.4

Under-provision of 
tax of prior year (492) (0.3) – – (492) (0.3)

Utilisation of tax 
losses previously 
not recognised (310) (0.2) – – (310) (0.2)      

Tax charge at the 
Group’s effective 
rate 2,629 1.7 – – 2,629 1.7      

14. DIVIDENDS

The directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend in respect of the year ended 31 March 
2016 (2015: Nil).
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15.  EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE 
COMPANY

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share attributable to owners of the 
Company is based on the following data:

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit/(Loss):
Profit/(Loss) for the year 123,250 (159,994)  

2016 2015
’000 ’000

(Restated)

Number of shares
Weighted average number of shares for the purpose of basic and 

diluted earnings/(loss) per share 7,926,923 3,838,284  

There were no potential dilutive shares for the year ended 31 March 2016, therefore, the basic and 
diluted earnings per share is the same. During the year ended 31 March 2015, no adjustment has been 
made to the basic loss per share in respect of a dilution as the impact of the convertible preference 
shares and the share options outstanding had an anti-dilutive effect on the basic per share presented.

During the year, the Company implemented the share consolidation of every two shares of par 
value HK$0.01 each into one consolidated share of HK$0.02 each (the “Share Consolidation”), and 
4,907,205,000 shares at HK$0.02 per share were issued by way of open offer at a price of HK$0.10 
per share for every one existing consolidated share (the “Open Offer”). The Share Consolidation 
and Open Offer were completed on 24 July 2015 and 24 August 2015 respectively. Accordingly, the 
weighted average number of shares for the purposes of basic and diluted earnings per share has been 
adjusted for both years.
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16.  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Furniture,
Leasehold Motor fixture and

improvement vehicles equipment Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost:
At 1 April 2014 87 682 321 1,090
Additions 13 – 178 191
Exchange difference – – (1) (1)    

At 31 March 2015 and 1 April 2015 100 682 498 1,280    

Additions – – 200 200
Disposal of subsidiaries (87) (682) (257) (1,026)    

At 31 March 2016 13 – 441 454    

Accumulated depreciation and 
impairment

At 1 April 2014 (87) (424) (208) (719)
Provided for the year (2) (122) (57) (181)
Exchange difference – – 1 1    

At 31 March 2015 and 1 April 2015 (89) (546) (264) (899)    

Provided for the year (4) (122) (91) (217)
Eliminated on disposal of subsidiaries 87 668 229 984    

At 31 March 2016 (6) – (126) (132)    

Net carrying amount:
At 31 March 2016 7 – 315 322    

At 31 March 2015 11 136 234 381    
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17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Other
intangible Computer

assets software Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost:
At 1 April 2014, 31 March 2015 and 1 April 2015 – – –
Additions through acquisition of subsidiaries 147,659 – 147,659
Additions 2,800 2,050 4,850   

At 31 March 2016 150,459 2,050 152,509   

Accumulated amortisation:
At 1 April 2014, 31 March 2015 and 1 April 2015 – – –
Provided for the year (3,077) (626) (3,703)   

At 31 March 2016 (3,077) (626) (3,703)   

Net carrying amount:
At 31 March 2016 147,382 1,424 148,806   

At 31 March 2015 – – –   

Note:

a) During the year ended 31 March 2016, certain acquisitions of other intangible assets with aggregate amount of 

HK$150,459,000 has been acquired as set out in follow:

i. Acquired through business combination, represented operating license for a website, it was granted the 

sole and exclusive rights to operate, manage and maintain the website for 20 years commencing from 5 

August 2015. The useful life of the operating license is 20 years.

ii. Acquired from an independent third party, represented two websites. The useful life of the two sites are 

infinite.

b) Computer software, which was acquired from an independent third party during the year ended 31 March 2016, 

is used for developing the multi-marketplace sales and inventory system. The useful life of computer software is 3 

years.
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18.  GOODWILL

HK$’000

Cost:
At 1 April 2014, 31 March 2015 and 1 April 2015 663,158
Acquisition of a subsidiary 48,686 

At 31 March 2016 711,844 

Accumulated impairment losses:
At 1 April 2014 252,898
Impairment loss recognised for the year 146,260 

At 31 March 2015 and 1 April 2015 399,158
Impairment loss recognised for the year 137,000 

At 31 March 2016 536,158 

Net carrying amount:
At 31 March 2016 175,686 

At 31 March 2015 264,000 

Pursuant to business acquisition of Huge Leader Development Limited and its subsidiaries and 
Dynamic Thinker Limited, goodwill has been generated and which represents the benefit of expected 
synergy, revenue growth and future market development of Huge Leader Development Limited and its 
subsidiaries and Dynamic Thinker Limited.

Huge Leader Development Limited and its subsidiaries

As at 31 March 2016, the Group determined the recoverable amount of cash generating unit (“CGU 
1”) for advertising through mobile devices and retail chain to be approximately HK$127,000,000 
(2015: HK$264,000,000). The directors of the Company has hired International Valuation Limited as 
their expert in deriving the value in use of the CGU 1. The valuation had used cash flows projection 
based on financial budgets approved by management which covered a 5-year period, and incorporated 
therein, a discount rate of 18.19% (2015: 13.92%); in addition, those expected cash flows beyond 
five-year period contain 2% growth rate. This growth rate is based on the specific market. As the 
recoverable amount of the CGU 1 was below its carrying amount, an impairment loss of approximately 
HK$137,000,000 (2015: HK$146,260,000) has been recognised in profit or loss included in other gains 
or losses.
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18.  GOODWILL (Continued)

Dynamic Thinker Limited

As at 31 March 2016, the Group determined the recoverable amount of cash generating unit (“CGU 
2”) for advertising through website to be approximately HK$48,686,000. The directors of the Company 
has hired International Valuation Limited as their expert in deriving the value in use of the CGU 2. The 
valuation had used cash flows projection based on financial budgets approved by management which 
covered a 3 year period, and incorporated therein, a discount rate of 23%; in addition, those expected 
cash flows beyond 3 year period contain 2% growth rate. This growth rate is based on the specific 
market.

The key assumptions used in value in use calculations for advertising are as follows:

– Budgeted market share and sales, average market share and sales in the period immediately 
before the budget period is expected to be unchanged over the budget period. The values 
assigned to the assumptions reflect past experience, except for the growth factor, which is 
consistent with management plans for focusing operations in the industry. Management believes 
the planned market share growth and budgeted sales over the budget period is reasonably 
achievable.

– Budgeted gross margin is constant over the budgeted period.

19.  IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL

Goodwill has been allocated for impairment testing purposes to the following groups of cash-
generating units:

–  Advertising at mobile devices and retail chain network
– Advertising at website

After recognition of impairment losses, the carrying amount of goodwill was allocated to cash-
generating units as follows:

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000 

Advertising at mobile devices and retail chain network 127,000 264,000
Advertising at website 48,686 –  

175,686 264,000  

Advertising through mobile devices and retail chain network

The recoverable amount of this cash-generating units are determined based on a value in use 
calculation which uses discounted cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by 
management covering a five-year period.
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19.  IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL (Continued)

Advertising through mobile devices and retail chain network (Continued)

The impairment loss recognised for both year entirely attributed to goodwill arising from acquisition 
of Huge Leader Development Limited and its subsidiaries. After the acquisition, the Group has 
worked with their business partners and endeavored to commence business. During the year ended 
31 March 2016, the development of the business is still in progress due to economic downturn. The 
technician who is responsible for developing the dining apps estimated the foreseeable time to launch 
the business will be longer than what they had previously expected. In the opinion of the Directors, 
there is unexpected business risks arising from operational risk and uncertainty involved in developing 
the dining apps, therefore they prudently estimated a lower projected cash flow that have been 
incorporated in the 5-year period.

20. DEPOSIT PAID FOR ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Deposit paid for possible acquisition of  
– 100% equity interest in Recent Value Limited (Note a) 20,000 –  

Notes:

(a) During the year, the Company entered into a sale and purchase agreement with a third party for the acquisition 

of the entire equity interest in Recent Value Limited for a consideration of HK$115,000,000, of which a deposit 

of HK$20,000,000 was paid by the Company on 23 February 2016. Recent Value Limited, through its subsidiary 

established in Hong Kong, is principally engaged in the provision of communication marketing platform services. 

For details, please refer to the Company's announcement dated 7 March 2016. The acquisition was competed in 

April 2016.

21. INVENTORIES

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Finished goods 2,750 –  

22. FINANCIAL ASSETS HELD FOR TRADING

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Held-for-trading investments include:
Equity securities listed in Hong Kong 459,461 37,180  

The fair value of the listed equity investment is based on the quoted market bid price available on the 
Stock Exchange.
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22. FINANCIAL ASSETS HELD FOR TRADING (Continued)

Details of its major listed equity security is as follows:

Name of 
investee company

Place of 
incorporation Year

Number of 
share held

Percentage of 
interest held Cost

Accumulated 
unrealised 

gain
Market 

value
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

China Jicheng Holdings  Cayman Islands 2016 325,000,000 2.17% 14,301 372,449 386,750
 Limited ("China Jicheng")
 (Stock code: 1027.HK) 2015 13,000,000 2.17% 14,301 22,879 37,180

A brief description of the business and financial information of China Jicheng, based on its latest 
published annual report is as follows:

China Jicheng is engaged in investment holding while the principal subsidiaries are principally engaged 
in manufacture and sale of umbrella and umbrella parts. The audited consolidated profit attributable 
to shareholders of China Jicheng for the year ended 31 December 2015 was approximately RMB27 
million (2014: approximately RMB74 million). At 31 December 2015, the audited consolidated net 
asset value of China Jicheng was approximately RMB425 million (2014: approximately RMB240 million).

According to China Jicheng’s 2015 annual report, it is believed that the prospect of China Jicheng is 
to further strengthen its leading market position and consolidate its competitive advantages in the 
industry, expanding production capacity, improving business development, and enhancing its research 
and development capabilities in order to match the increasing demand of the umbrella market and 
create higher values as well as bringing better return to their shareholders. As at 31 March 2016, 
approximately 84% (2015: 100%) of the financial assets held for trading represented investments in 
China Jicheng. And this represented approximately 43% (2015: 12%) of the Groups net assets.

23. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Name of subsidiaries

Place of
incorporation/
registration and
operations

Fully paid-up share/
registered capital 

and number 
of shares

Percentage of equity 
interests and voting
power attributable

to the Company Principal activities
Direct Indirect

Beast Media Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000,
1,000 ordinary shares

– 100% Investment holding 

Capital Marks Limited British Virgin Islands US$1,000,
1,000 shares

100% – Investment holding

Dynamic Thinker Limited British Virgin Islands US$1,
1 share

100% – Operating website

FingerAd Media Company Limited Hong Kong HK$1,
1 share

– 100% Food and beverages 
industry advertising 
business and movie 
production

Huge Leader Development Limited British Virgin Islands US$256,410,
256,410 shares

– 100% Investment holding 

Prospect Vantage Investment Limited British Virgin Islands US$100,
100 ordinary shares

100% – Investment holding
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24. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Within 30 days – 14,975
31–90 days 20,764 1,050
91–180 days 3,700 500
181–365 days – –
Over 365 days 329 229  

24,793 16,754
Less: Impairment loss in respect of accounts receivable (229) (229)  

24,564 16,525  

The Group allows an average credit period of 180 days. The movements in impairment loss in respect 
of accounts receivable were as follows:

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

At the beginning of year 229 229
Impairment losses recognised on receivables – –  

At the end of year 229 229  

Trade receivables above included amounts which are past due but not impaired because there has not 
been a significant change in credit quality and the amounts are still considered recoverable. The aged 
analysis of the Group’s accounts receivable balances which are past due but not impaired is presented 
as follows:

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Over 180 days 100 –  
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25. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

The Group
2016 2015

HK$’000 HK$’000

Prepayments 6,780 488
Deposits 86 –
Other receivables 19,055 37
Tax recoverable – 278  

25,921 803  

For the year ended 31 March 2016, impairment of other receivables of approximately HK$Nil 
(2015: HK$550,000) has been included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income. The debtors are either lost of contact or in financial difficulties of which the 
directors are of the opinion that the outstanding balances were not recoverable.

26. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

At 31 March 2016, cash and cash equivalents of the Group included currencies denominated in RMB 
amounted to approximately HK$Nil (2015: approximately HK$4,000) which is not freely convertible 
into other currencies.

27. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

An aged analysis of the accounts payable at the end of the reporting period, is as follows:

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

181–365 days 1,150 700
Over 365 days 34 35  

1,184 735  

As at 31 March 2016 and 2015, no retentions payables are included in accounts payable under current 
liabilities.
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28. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

The Group
2016 2015

HK$’000 HK$’000

Other payables 497 1,589
Accruals 4,509 14,221  

5,006 15,810  

29. PROMISSORY NOTES

During the year ended 31 March 2015, pursuant to a letter dated 2 June 2014, Win Today, agreed to 
further extend the maturity date of its promissory note receivable ("Note #1") from 12 August 2014 
to 30 September 2015 (the “New Maturity Date #1”) and undertake not to request repayment of any 
amounts accruing to Win Today from Note #1 until the New Maturity Date #1. The modification of the 
terms of Note #1 was accounted for as an extinguishment of the original Note #1 and the recognition 
of new Note #1. The carrying amount of the original Note #1 was derecognised and the fair value 
of the new Note #1 was determined by an independent valuer and recognised on 2 June 2014. The 
difference between the carrying amount and the fair value was recognised in profit and loss as gain 
on early extinguishment of promissory notes. In subsequent periods, the effective interest rate of the 
principal of the Note #1 is 13.63% per annum.

During the year ended 31 March 2016, the Group has fully repaid principal amount of Note #1 
amounting to approximately HK$5,800,000 to Win Today.

For the year ended 31 March 2016, the imputed interest expense generated from the Note #1 
amounted to approximately HK$684,000 (2015: HK$1,545,000).
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29. PROMISSORY NOTES (Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2015, pursuant to a letter dated 2 June 2014, Huge Leader Holdings 
Limited, a shareholder and owns significant influences of the Group, agreed to further extend the 
maturity date of its promissory note receivable (“Note #2”) from 31 March 2015 to 30 September 
2015 (the “New Maturity Date #2”) and undertake not to request repayment of any amounts accruing 
to Huge Leader Holdings Limited from Note #2 until the New Maturity Date #2. The modification 
of the terms of Note #2 was accounted for as an extinguishment of the original Note #2 and the 
recognition of new Note #2. The carrying amount of the original Note #2 was derecognised and the 
fair value of the new Note #2 was determined by an independent valuer and recognised on 2 June 
2014. The difference between the carrying amount and the fair value was recognised in profit and loss 
as gain on early extinguishment of promissory notes. In subsequent periods, the effective interest rate 
of the principal of the Note #2 is 13.74% per annum.

During the year ended 31 March 2016, the Group has fully repaid principal amount of Note #2 
amounting to approximately HK$50,000,000 to Huge Leader Holdings Limited.

For the year ended 31 March 2016, the imputed interest expense generated from the Note#2 
amounted to approximately HK$11,640,000 (2015: HK$15,304,000).

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 April 43,877  193,779 

Interest charged at effective interest rate 12,324  16,849 
Interest payables (401)  (2,563)
Early redemption –  (160,000)
Net fair value losses on early redemption –  18,078 
Redemption (55,800) –
Gain on extinguishment of promissory notes –  (22,266)  

At 31 March –  43,877 

Classified as current liabilities –  (43,877)  

Non-current liabilities – –  
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30. DEFERRED TAXATION

The movements in deferred tax assets/(liabilities) during the year are as follows:

Accelerated
tax 

depreciation

Financial
assets held

 for trading
Intangible

assets Tax losses Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

As 1 April 2014 – – – – –
Credit/(Charge) to 

profit or loss (17) (3,774) – 670 (3,121)     

As 31 March 2015 
and 1 April 2015 (17) (3,774) – 670 (3,121)     

Acquisition of a 
subsidiary – – (36,915) – (36,915)

Credit/(Charge) to 
profit or loss 6 (61,090) 769 (670) (60,985)     

At 31 March 
2016 (11) (64,864) (36,146) – (101,021)     

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of financial position, certain deferred 
tax assets and liabilities have been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for 
financial reporting purposes:

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Deferred tax assets – –
Deferred tax liabilities (101,021)  (3,121)  

(101,021)  (3,121)  

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses arising in Hong Kong and PRC of 
approximately HK$19,097,000 (2015: HK$14,711,000). Tax losses arising in Hong Kong are available 
indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose. 
Tax losses arising in PRC may be carried forward for a maximum for five years. Deferred tax assets had 
not been recognised in respect of these losses as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-
making for some time, or it is not probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all 
or part of the deferred tax assets to be utilised.
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31. SHARE CAPITAL

Number
of Shares

Nominal value 
of Shares

Notes ’000 HK$’000

Authorised:
Share capital of HK$0.01 each
At 1 April 2014, 31 March 2015 and 1 April 2015 10,000,000 100,000
Share consolidation (5,000,000) –
Increase in authorised share capital 45,000,000 900,000  

Share capital of HK$0.02 each
At 31 March 2016 50,000,000 1,000,000  

Issued and fully paid:
Share capital of HK$0.01 each:
At 1 April 2014, 31 March 2015 and 1 April 2015 9,814,410 98,144
Share consolidation (a) & (c) (4,907,205) –
Issue of shares pursuant to the open offer (b) & (c) 4,907,205 98,144  

Share capital of HK$0.02 each
At 31 March 2016 9,814,410 196,288  

Notes:

(a) On 23 July 2015, the Company passed an ordinary resolution for share consolidation, the consolidation of every 

two Shares of HK$0.01 each into one consolidated Share of HK$0.02 each became effective on 24 July 2015.

(b) On 4 September 2015, 4,907,205,000 Shares of HK$0.02 each were issued by way of open offer at a price of 

HK$0.10 each for a consideration of approximately HK$480,276,000. The excess of the issue price over the par 

value of the Shares issued was credited to the share premium account. For more details, please refer to the 

Company’s announcement dated 2 September 2015.

(c) The Shares issued during the period rank pari passu with the existing Shares in all respects.

Share options

Details of the Company’s share option schemes are included in Note 33 to the consolidated financial 
statements.
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32. NON-VOTING CONVERTIBLE PREFERENCE SHARES

Number of
shares

Nominal value
of shares

Notes ’000 HK$’000

Authorised:
Non-voting convertible preference shares 

of HK$0.07 each
At 1 April 2014, at 31 March 2015, 

at 1 April 2015 and at 31 March 2016 7,000,000 490,000  

Issued and fully paid:
Non-voting convertible preference shares 

of HK$0.07 each
At 1 April 2014 3,674,000 257,180
Conversion of convertible preference shares (a) (3,674,000) (257,180)  

At 31 March 2015 and at 1 April 2015 – –
Conversion of convertible preference shares – –  

At 31 March 2016 – –  

Notes:

(a) During the year ended 31 March 2015, 3,674,000,000 shares of HK$0.01 each were issued upon the conversion of 

the convertible preference shares at a conversion price of HK$0.07 per share.
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33. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The Company operated a share option scheme which became effective on 6 September 2004 (the 
“2004 Share Option Scheme”) which was refreshed on 29 August 2008 and, unless otherwise 
cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years from that date for the purpose of providing 
incentives and rewards to eligible participants for their contributions to the Group.

For the year ended 31 March 2016, the Group did not grant any (2015: 153,383,000) share options to 
certain director, employees and consultants of the Group under the 2004 Share Option Scheme. The 
2004 Share Option Scheme expired on 6 September 2014.

A share option scheme (the “2014 Share Option Scheme”) of the Company was adopted and 
approved by the Company at the annual general meeting of the Company held on 29 August 2014 
which became effective on 29 August 2014 and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain 
in force for 10 years from that date.

The purpose of the 2014 Share Option Scheme is to reward Participants who have contributed to the 
Group and to provide incentives to Participants to work towards the success of the Company.

The Directors may at their absolute discretion grant Options to (a) any full-time or part-time employee 
of any member of the Group; (b) any consultant or adviser of any member of the Group; (c) any 
director (including executive, non-executive or independent non-executive directors) of any member 
of the Group; (d) any shareholder of any member of the Group; or (e) any distributor, contractor, 
supplier, agent, customer, business partner or service provider of any member of the Group, to be 
determined absolutely by the Board. If Options are granted to Participants, regards will be had as 
to, inter alia, the relationship of the grantee to the Group, the length of time of relationship, the 
contribution made or to be made to the Group, etc.

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently permitted to be granted under the 
Scheme is equivalent, upon their exercise, to 10% of total number of shares of the Company in issue 
as at 10 September 2015. The maximum number of shares issuable under share options to each 
eligible participant in the Scheme within any 12-month period, is limited to 1% of the shares of the 
Company in issue as at the date of grant. Any further grant of share options in excess of this limit is 
subject to shareholders’ approval in general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company, 
or to any of their associates, are subject to approval in advance by the independent non-executive 
directors. In addition, any share options granted to a substantial shareholder or an independent non-
executive director of the Company, or to any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of 
the Company in issue on the date of offer and with an aggregate value (based on the closing price of 
the Company’s shares at the date of the offer) in excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period, 
are subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 28 days from the date of the offer, upon 
payment of a nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise period of the share 
options granted is determinable by the directors and, commences after a certain period and, ends on a 
date which is not later than 10 years from the date of grant.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by the directors, but may not be less than the 
highest of (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the 
Stock Exchange on the Date of Grant which must be a Business Day; (ii) the average closing price of 
the Shares as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the five Business 
Days immediately preceding the Date of Grant; and (iii) the nominal value of a share of the Company.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.



83AnnuAl RepoRt 2016

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2016

33. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued)

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the total number of shares available for issue 
under the Scheme is 981,441,000 shares representing 10% of the total number of issued shares of 
the Company on 10 September 2015.

No share option was granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed under the 2014 Share Option Scheme 
during the year ended 31 March 2016 .

On 24 July 2014, the number of shares in respect of which options had been granted to director, 
eligible persons and consultants under the 2004 Share Option Scheme was 153,383,000, representing 
1.95% of the shares of the Company in issue at that date.

The following table summaries the movements in the Company’s share options during the year ended 
31 March 2015.

2004 Share Option Scheme

Grant
date

At
1 April

2014

Granted
during

the year

Exercised
during

the year

Share
options
lasped
during

the year

As at
31 March

2015
Exercise

period

Exercise
price

per share
HK$

Former executive director
Ms. Shen Lihong  

(resigned on  
21 August 2015)

24 July 
2014

– 15,338,300 (15,338,000) (300) – 24 July 
2014 – 

6 September 
2014

0.375

Other eligible employees 24 July 
2014

– 76,691,500 (76,690,000) (1,500) – 24 July 
2014 – 

6 September 
2014

0.375

Consultants 24 July 
2014

– 61,353,200 (61,352,000) (1,200) – 24 July 
2014 – 

6 September 
2014

0.375

     

– 153,383,000 (153,380,000) (3,000) –     

Employee share option expenses related to the 2004 Share Option Scheme were valued at 
approximately HK$11,709,000 (2014: HK$Nil) and are charged to the consolidated statement of profit 
or loss. The fair value of the share options granted is measured based on the Black-Scholes option 
pricing model with the following assumptions:

24 July 2014

Value per option 0.0763
Price per share at date of grant $0.375
Exercise price per share $0.375
Annual risk-free interest rate 1.96%
Historical volatility 151.23%
Life of options 0.12 year
Vesting period –
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33. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued)

Historical volatility measures the volatility of the underlying asset over a certain historical period time 
(the “Past Volatility”). It is assumed that the Past Volatility can be extrapolated directly to the future 
volatility.

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated into the measurement of fair value.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had no share options outstanding under the 2004 
Share Option Scheme since it was expired on 6 September 2014.

Up to the date of approval of these consolidated financial statements, 153,380,000 share options have 
been exercised under the 2004 Share Option Scheme.

34. RESERVES

The Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein for the current and prior year are 
presented in the consolidated statement of changes in equity of the consolidated financial statements.

The Company

Share
premium

Share
option

reserves
Capital
reserve

Accumulated
losses Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 April 2014 362,154 – 107,648 (408,312) 61,490
Placing of shares 200,895 – – – 200,895
Issue of shares upon conversion of 

convertible preference shares 220,440 – – – 220,440
Equity-settled share-option 

arrangement – 11,709 – – 11,709
Issue of shares under share option 

scheme 67,691 (11,709) – – 55,982
Loss and total comprehensive  

loss for the year – – – (434,599) (434,599)     

At 31 March 2015 and 1 April 2015 851,180 – 107,648 (842,911) 115,917
Issue of share under open offer 382,737 – – – 382,737
Transaction cost on open offer (605) – – – (605)
Loss for the year – – – (129,638) (129,638)     

At 31 March 2016 1,233,312 – 107,648 (972,549) 368,411     
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34. RESERVES (Continued)

The Group

The capital reserve of the Company represents the excess of the fair value of the shares of the 
subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the Group Reorganisation in 2004, over the nominal value of the 
Company’s shares issued in exchange therefor.

Under the Companies Law (2004 revision) of the Cayman Islands, the Company’s share premium 
account and capital reserve may be distributed to the shareholders of the Company, provided that 
immediately following the date on which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company will 
be in a position to pay off its debts as and when they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

35. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 24 March 2016, the Group completed the disposal of 100% of the equity interests in Wing Hong 
Investment Limited (the “Disposal”).

Assets and liabilities recognised at the date of disposal were as follows:

HK$’000

Property, plant and equipment 42
Deposit, prepayments and other receivables 51
Bank balances and cash 62
Accrued expenses and other payables (764)
Loan from directors (1,098) 

Net liabilities disposed of (1,707) 

Consideration received
Consideration receivable 8 

8 

Gain on disposal
Consideration receivable 8
Net liabilities disposed of 1,707
Cumulative exchange differences in respect of the net assets of subsidiaries 

reclassified from equity to profit or loss on loss of control of subsidiaries (217) 

Gain on disposal 1,498 

Net cash outflow arising on disposal:
Cash consideration —
Less: cash and cash equivalent disposed of (62) 

(62) 
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36. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY

On 4 November 2014, the Company entered into an agreement with an independent third party (the 
“Vendor”) for the acquisition of the entire issued share capital of Dynamic Thinker Limited at total 
of 1 consideration share and a consideration of HK$160,000,000.The first tranche of HK$80,000,000 
consideration had been paid in cash to the Vendor upon the completion of the sale and purchase of 
the share of Dynamic Thinker Limited. The second tranche of HK$80,000,000 consideration will be 
paid in cash to the Vendor within 7 business days after the determination of the audited net profit 
after tax of Dynamic Thinker Limited for the financial year from 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2017.

Pursuant to the sales and purchase agreement, the profit guarantee for Dynamic Thinker Limited’s 
total net profit after tax shall not be less than HK$5,000,000 for the year ended 31 March 2017. If the 
net profit for the financial year is less than the guaranteed net profits indicated above, the balance of 
the consideration in respect of that period shall be reduced on a pro rata basis and such consideration 
to be delivered to the Vendor for such financial year will be reduced accordingly. The fair value of the 
profit guarantees of Dynamic Thinker Limited was HK$nil at the date of acquisition based on valuation 
performed by an independent professional valuer, by using a probablistic model.

Dynamic Thinker Limited is a limited liability company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. 
Dynamic Thinker Limited is principally engaged in the provision of online advertising service in the 
People’s Republic of China. The acquisition of the intangible assets was then considered as an 
acquisition of a subsidiary.
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36. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY (Continued)

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the Dynamic Thinker Limited as at the date of 
acquisition were as follows:

2016
HK$’000

Intangible assets 147,659
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 802
Other payables and accruals (42)
Tax payable (190)
Deferred tax liabilities (36,915) 

Total identifiable net assets at fair value 111,314
Goodwill on acquisition 48,686 

160,000

Consideration was satisfied by:

Cash and cash equivalent 160,000 

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition is as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents acquired –
Cash consideration paid (80,000) 

Net cash outflow of cash and cash equivalents (80,000) 

Goodwill arose on the acquisition of Dynamic Thinker Limited because of expected synergies, revenue 
growth and future market development in advertising through website. None of the goodwill arising 
on the acquisition is expected to be deductible for tax purposes.

Had the acquisition been effected on 1 April 2015, the revenue of the Group would have been 
approximately HKD38,941,000, and the profit for the year would have been approximately 
HKD123,820,000. The pro forma financial information is for illustrative purposes only and is not 
necessarily an indication of revenue and results of the Group that actually would have been completed 
on 1 April 2015 nor is it intended to be a projection of future profits.
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37. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(a) On 25 November 2014 and 25 December 2014, a district court civil action had commenced 
by a third party against the former subsidiary and the Company regarding the outstanding 
professional services fee amount approximately HK$769,000, HK$137,000, HK$696,000 and 
HK$1,945,000 respectively.

 As at the date of approval of these consolidated financial statements, no decision has been 
made in the court proceedings. In the opinion of the law firms, the Company has valid defense 
against the allegation and the legal action would have any probable material adverse impact 
on the Group’s financial position. Therefore, provision in respect of such claim amounting to 
HK$3,547,000 was made in the consolidated financial statements.

(b) On 26 June 2015, a High Court action had commenced by a former subsidiary which is 
currently under the liquidation management against the former directors of the Company and 
the Company regarding total fund transfer amount approximately HK$50,600,000. The funds 
have been transferred from the former subsidiary to the Company on 18 September 2009, 19 
February 2010 and 10 March 2010 have been claimed no legitimate commercial purpose or 
justification.

 As at the date of approval of these consolidated financial statements, no decision has been 
made in the arbitration and court proceedings. In the opinion of the directors, the Company 
has valid defences, against such claims and any resulting liabilities would not have any probable 
material adverse impact on the Group’s financial position. Therefore, no provision in respect of 
such claim was made in the consolidated financial statements.

38. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

The Group leases office premises under operating lease arrangements, with leases negotiated for terms 
ranging from one to two years.

The Group had total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases falling 
due as follows:

The Group
2016 2015

HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 168 –
In the second to fifth years inclusive 224 –  

392 –  
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39. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
The Group had the following capital commitments at the end of the reporting period:

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Contracted, but not provided for:
License fee and management fee 4,285 –  

40. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) In addition to the transactions and balances detailed elsewhere in these consolidated financial 
statements, the Group had the following material transactions with related parties during the 
year:

The Group
2016 2015

HK$’000 HK$’000

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits paid to  
key management personnel 779 2,068

Finance cost incurred from Note #2 11,640 15,304
Settlement of Note #2 50,000 150,000
Finance cost incurred from other loan/shareholder’s loans – 431
Settlement of other loan/shareholder’s loans – 21,159  

(b) Outstanding balances with related parties

As disclosed in the Note 29, the Group had an outstanding balance which amounted to 
approximately HK$nil (2014: HK$50,000,000), due to the Company’s shareholder which owns 
significant influences. The terms of the promissory note has been included in Note 29 to the 
consolidated financial statements.

41. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The Group operates a mandatory provident fund scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong 
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The Group’s 
contributions to the MPF Scheme are calculated at 5% of the salaries and wages subject to a monthly 
maximum amount of contribution of HK$1,500 (HK$1,250 prior to 1 June 2014) per employee and 
vest fully with employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.
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42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 March 2016

2016 2015
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

ASSETS

Non-current assets
Interests in subsidiaries 403,350 248,029
Deposit paid for the acquisition of subsidiaries 20,000 –  

423,350 248,029  

Current assets
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 14,742 754
Cash and cash equivalents 210,993 1  

225,735 755  

Total assets 649,085 248,784  

EQUITY

Capital and reserves
Share capital 31 196,288 98,144
Reserves 34 368,411 115,917  

Total equity 564,699 214,061  

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities
Consideration payable 80,000 –
Other payables and accruals 4,386 2,138
Amounts due to subsidiaries – 32,585  

84,386 34,723  

Total liabilities 84,386 34,723  

Total equity and liabilities 649,085 248,784  

Net current assets/(liabilities) 141,349 (33,968)  

Total assets less current liabilities 564,699 214,061  

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 23 June 2016

Sun Wei Yan Zhilei
Director Director

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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43. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 7 March 2016, the Company entered into a sale and purchase agreement with a third party for 
the acquisition of the entire equity interest in the Group of Recent Value Limited for a consideration 
of HK$115,000,000, of which a deposit of HK$20,000,000 was paid by the Company during the 
year. The final consideration for the acquisition has not yet been determined. Recent Value Limited, 
through its subsidiary to be established in Hong Kong, will be principally engaged in the provision of 
communication marketing platform services.

44. COMPARATIVES

Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to conform with the current year’s presentation.

45. AUTHORISATION FOR ISSUE OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of 
Directors on 23 June 2016.
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RESULTS

Year ended 31 March
2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Turnover 38,135 20,429 2,951 6,677 28,754     

Profit/(Loss) from operations 197,359 (140,085) (163,495) (70,523) (44,104)
Finance costs (12,324) (17,280) (26,418) (17,793) (1,046)     

Profit/(Loss) before tax 185,035 (157,365) (189,913) (88,316) (45,150)
Taxation (61,785) (2,629) (1,814) – (329)     

Profit/(Loss) after tax 123,250 (159,994) (191,727) (88,316) (45,479)
Discontinued operations – – (11,974) (2,599) –     

Profit/(Loss) for the year 123,250 (159,994) (203,701) (90,915) (45,479)     

Attributable to:
Owners of the Company 123,250 (159,994) (203,701) (89,881) (41,150)
Non-controlling interests – – – (1,034) (4,329)     

Profit/(Loss) for the year 123,250 (159,994) (203,701) (90,915) (45,479)     

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

As at 31 March
2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Total assets 1,095,802 365,313 415,458 586,686 725,096
Total liabilities 190,308 (63,543) (230,957) (228,104) (256,501)
Non-controlling interest – – – – (19,882)     

Net assets 905,494 301,770 184,501 358,582 448,713     
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